EXACTEARTH LTD. (the “Company”)
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) is prepared as of September 13, 2016, and
provides information that management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our unaudited
interim consolidated results of operations and financial condition. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with our
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, for the three and nine months
ended July 31, 2016 (the “Interim Consolidated Financial Statements”) and our audited consolidated financial
statements, including the notes thereto, for the year ended October 31, 2015 (the “Consolidated Financial
Statements”). The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). All amounts herein are stated in thousands of Canadian dollars (“CAD”) unless
otherwise indicated. Unless otherwise noted, the information contained herein is dated as of July 31, 2016.
Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This MD&A contains forward-looking statements that relate to our current expectations and views of future
events. In some cases, these forward-looking statements can be identified by words or phrases such as “may”, “will”,
“expect”, “anticipate”, “aim”, “estimate”, “intend”, “plan”, “seek”, “believe”, “potential”, “continue”, “is/are likely
to” or the negative of these terms, or other similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. We
have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future events and
financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and
financial needs. These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements relating to: expectations
regarding our revenue, expenses and operations; anticipated impact of changes to accounting policies; anticipated
industry trends; anticipated new Order Bookings; research and development spending levels; selling, general and
administrative spending; revenue growth guidance; gross margin trending, anticipated future launch dates and
launch locations for satellite assets, including the satellites comprising the Second Generation Constellation;
anticipated and continued benefits of the Second Generation Constellation on-board Iridium NEXT; expected useful
lives of satellite assets and anticipated completion of additional ground stations; our intention to respond to certain
procurement proposal requests and the outcome thereof.
Forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions and analysis made by us in light of our
experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments and other
factors we believe are appropriate, and are subject to risks and uncertainties. Although we believe that the
assumptions underlying these statements are reasonable, they may prove to be incorrect. Whether actual results,
performance or achievements will conform to our expectations and predictions is subject to a number of known and
unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors, which are discussed in greater detail in the “Risk Factors”
section of this MD&A.
Non-IFRS Measures
In this MD&A, we provide information about Order Bookings, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization (“EBITDA”), Adjusted EBITDA, EBITDA Margin and Subscription Revenue. Order Bookings, EBITDA,
Adjusted EBITDA, EBITDA Margin and Subscription Revenue are not defined by IFRS and our measurement of them
may vary from that used by others. These non-IFRS measures are not recognized measures under IFRS and do not
have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS, and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar measures
presented by other companies. Rather, these measures are provided as additional information to complement the
IFRS measures by providing further understanding of our results of operations from management’s perspective.
Accordingly, they should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our financial information
reported under IFRS.
We define “Order Bookings” as the dollar sum of fully executed contracts for the supply of our products
and/or services to our customers received during a defined period of time. Order Bookings are indicative of firm future
revenue streams; however, they do not provide a guarantee of future net income and provide no information about
the timing of future revenue.
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We measure EBITDA as net income plus interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. We measure EBITDA
Margin as EBITDA, divided by our total revenue. We measure Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA plus offering related expenses
associated with the spinout of the Company’s shares, unrealized foreign exchange losses, share-based
compensation costs and impairment losses, less unrealized foreign exchange gains. We believe that EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA provide useful supplemental information as they provide an indication of the income generated by
our main business activities before taking into consideration how they are financed or taxed and exclude the impact
of items that are considered by management to be outside of our ongoing operating results. EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA should not be construed as an alternative to net income (loss) determined in accordance with IFRS as an
indicator of our performance or to cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities as a measure of
liquidity and cash flows.
We define Subscription Revenue as the dollar sum of fully executed contracts for our products and/or services
to our customers that are subscription-based, typically sold with a one-year period of service and recognized in our
“Subscription Services” segmented revenue.
Overview
We are a leading provider of global maritime vessel data for ship tracking and maritime situational awareness
solutions. Since our establishment in 2009, we have pioneered Satellite Automatic Identification System (“S-AIS”)
maritime surveillance and have delivered to our clients a view of maritime behaviours across all regions of the world’s
oceans that is unrestricted by terrestrial limitations. We have deployed an operational data processing supply chain
with our First Generation Constellation, receiving ground stations, patented decoding algorithms and advanced Big
Data processing and distribution facilities. This ground-breaking system provides a comprehensive picture of the
location of AIS equipped maritime vessels throughout the world and allows us to deliver data and information services
characterized by high performance, reliability, security and simplicity to large international markets.
The Interim Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of our Subsidiary with inter-company
transactions and balances eliminated. We have two locations, one in Cambridge, Ontario, Canada and the other
in Harwell, UK.
Our former parent company, COM DEV International Ltd. (“COM DEV”) completed a spinout (“Spinout
Transaction”) of exactEarth Ltd. on February 4, 2016, which resulted in exactEarth’s Shares trading on the Toronto
Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the stock symbol XCT. COM DEV and HISDESAT Servicios Estratégicos S.A. (“Hisdesat”)
formerly held 73% and 27% respectively of the issued and outstanding common shares. As a result of the Spinout
Transaction COM DEV, Hisdesat and company executives subscribed for an additional 10,494,395 shares, we
received approximately $20,440 in cash, and all amounts due to COM DEV and Hisdesat were converted to equity.
COM DEV’s investment in exactEarth was spun out to its existing shareholders. When the Spinout Transaction was
completed, we became a reporting issuer in all of the Provinces of Canada and became subject to the continuous
disclosure reporting requirements under the securities laws of the Provinces. Further details on the Spinout Transaction
can be found in COM DEV’s Management Information Circular as filed on SEDAR.
Key Components and Functions of our Product Offering
Automatic Identification System (“AIS”)
Since 2004 all major ships in the world have been required by the International Maritime Organization (“IMO”)
to carry an AIS transponder which constantly transmits VHF radio signals containing information about the ship (name,
destination, cargo) as well as its movement (position, course, heading speed etc.) In a typical seven-day period, we
track approximately 165,000 AIS-equipped vessels. This capability is further enhanced by our patented capability to
track small vessels in the open ocean utilizing a new class of specially modified Class B AIS transponders. We
anticipate that with this added capability, our addressable market will increase to more than 1 million vessels by 2020.
AIS was originally designed as a collision avoidance system; however, it has been widely recognised for some time
that such open broadcast information can be collected and used to track and monitor shipping activity close to
shore from terrestrial AIS stations (terrestrial systems are physically limited by the curvature of the earth and is only
effective for approximately 50 nautical miles, or approximately 100 kilometres). We have led the way in overcoming
this shortcoming by pioneering the reception of such AIS signals from low earth orbit (“LEO”) satellites, thus eliminating
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the distance limitation imposed by the terrestrial AIS stations, and for the first time in maritime history providing a
real-time unrestricted global view of all shipping regardless of location, and importantly, proximity to a coastline.
Satellites
We receive AIS data from our constellation of LEO satellites. The first satellite, EV-0 was launched by COM
DEV in 2008 for the purpose of validating the concept of collecting maritime AIS signals from space, but is now
non-operational. Between 2011 and 2013, we launched and commissioned four more advanced AIS satellites,
including EV-1, EV-2, EV-5 and EV-6. These satellites incorporated advanced AIS payloads designed to further improve
AIS message detection from space. Our satellite constellation grew once again in December 2014 when we
announced the successful integration of three advanced in-orbit AIS satellites into our exactView constellation
through a contract under which we purchased one satellite, EV-11, and exclusively licensed data from two more.
These are month to month lease agreements which can be terminated at any point and are subject to minimum
service level requirements. Our new equatorial satellite, EV-9, was launched on September 28, 2015 and
commissioning has been completed. The data from these four additional AIS satellites significantly increased the
capacity of our global vessel monitoring service, expanded our constellation to eight satellites, and further enhanced
our world-leading AIS message detection performance from space. We expect to receive data from two additional
satellites EV-7 and EV-8. EV-7 was launched on June 22, 2016 and commissioning is underway. EV-8 has been built
and is awaiting launch, but no confirmed launch date has been announced at this time.
Ground infrastructure and data processing
We have deployed a network of international ground stations designed for highly reliable satellite data downlinking,
storage and transmission to our primary data processing centre (“DPC”) for processing and distribution. The ground
station facilities provide reception of AIS payload downloads and securely cache the payload data locally. Ground
stations are often equipped with redundant capabilities to ensure the highest level of reliability. Upon reception at a
ground station, the AIS information is forwarded through an extensive secure Virtual Private Network using encrypted,
high capacity links to one of our two DPCs both of which are located in Ontario, Canada.
Products and services
Through a variety of products and services, we provide what we believe to be the most advanced
location-based information on maritime traffic commercially available today. We provide the flexibility needed to
customise our services and products to suit the needs of our customers on a timely basis.
Subscription Services encompasses the sale of Data-as-a-Service (“DaaS”), Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”)
and Information-as-a-Service (“IaaS”). DaaS includes the provision of continuous data feeds in various formats and
delivery systems through secure data connections over the Internet. We provide a SaaS solution that allows users to
access the ship information derived from our AIS data sources within an easy-to-use mapping environment. Our
value-added and Information Services product offerings encompass our IaaS solutions.
Data Products include raw data and customized reports derived from our extensive and growing archive
dating back to July 5, 2010, including more than 6.5 billion S-AIS messages. Since we commenced commercial
operations in 2009, we have tracked approximately 300,000 unique vessels. Revenue from the sale of these products
is generally recognized when they are delivered to the customer and are not necessarily recurring in nature.
Other Products and Services include special projects with governments and space agencies to research
methods and applications related to the satellite AIS business, as well as specific analysis and reporting contracts.
These projects are generally announced by governments sporadically and there are no guarantees that they will be
awarded to exactEarth. Revenue from these projects may span several months with no certainty that there will be
similar projects in the future from which we will be able to earn revenue.
Customers
As the primary supplier of S-AIS data delivery, our customers include both Government departments
(defense; intelligence and security; search and rescue; border patrol and maritime safety; government and space
agencies and other ministries and organizations) and Commercial and Other customers (commercial fishing; business
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intelligence and risk management; port management; commercial offshore (oil and gas); commercial shipping;
hydrographic and charting and other academic and research institutions). Our S-AIS data service provides
enhanced maritime domain awareness for improved vessel management, scheduling, environmental protection,
search and rescue operations, and defence and border securing applications.
Strategic alliances
In May 2014, we entered into a strategic collaboration agreement with Software Radio Technology plc
(“SRT”) aimed at optimizing satellite reception from low cost AIS transponders. SRT is the leading provider of Class B
AIS transponders, identifiers and other AIS-based products to the global market. During the quarter we were able to
successfully renegotiate our agreement with SRT to be non-exclusive thus allowing exactEarth to apply its patented
satellite small vessel tracking technology with other transponder vendors which we anticipate will broaden our market
for this capability. The detection range of AIS transponders by a coastal monitoring system is approximately
50 nautical miles (or approximately 100 kilometres). However, many vessels, large and small frequently operate
outside of the detection range of such systems. The ability to reliably receive AIS transmissions from Class B
transponders from space and therefore without coastal range limitations will enable countries to significantly improve
their vessel monitoring capabilities. Under our Agreements with SRT, intellectual property that is jointly developed will
be jointly owned by the parties while the originator of such intellectual property will maintain ownership of such
intellectual property. SRT acts as a manufacturer and distributor for the physical identifiers (transponders) with
exactEarth providing the data collection and distribution services. Subsequent to quarter-end, we announced a
small-vessel tracking contract with the Government of Ghana, which leverages our partnership with SRT.
In July 2014, we announced a strategic alliance with Genscape International Inc. (“Genscape”), a leading
real-time energy information supplier to commercial markets. Genscape acquired our existing partner
VesselTracker GmbH (“VesselTracker”) who provided the use of certain terrestrial stations. Pursuant to a 2012
agreement we included VesselTracker’s Global Terrestrial AIS data into our products and services. In addition,
VesselTracker offered exactEarth Satellite AIS data, as a distributor, to their customers primarily in the commercial
sector. Genscape now provides the most extensive terrestrial AIS information available as well as expansive ship
information. Our agreements with Genscape are non-exclusive and operate on a revenue share basis.
On June 8, 2015 we announced the Harris Agreement which will allow us to apply our expertise and
technology in AIS signal detections from space on-board Iridium NEXT. The payload utilizes Harris’ powerful AppStar
applications platform and will employ an in-orbit version of our patented AIS detection algorithms, creating an
unrivaled AIS detection capability for global maritime tracking. The Second Generation Constellation will collect
information across the entire maritime frequency band, and provide real-time access to and from the ground,
enabling real-time delivery of the collected maritime information on a global scale.
When fully deployed, the Second Generation Constellation will provide persistent real-time global coverage
with detection performance rivaling ground-based systems. The robustness of the constellation, programmability of
the payloads and support for multiple in-orbit applications makes this the global maritime information collection
system designed to meet and exceed the needs and expectations of the world’s maritime community for the
foreseeable future.
As part of the Harris Agreement, the two companies will share their respective AIS product revenue with each
other. The table below outlines the revenue sharing terms as set forth in the Harris Agreement:

Revenue Source

Revenue Sharing Agreement (Percentages of Revenue)(1)(2)
Before Initial Operating Capacity (“IOC”)

After IOC

exactEarth Ltd. Payments to Harris

All AIS Data Revenue(6)

• No revenue sharing until one year after initial
payloads in service
• Thereafter sharing per post-IOC levels with a oneyear delay(3)

• 40% on the first US$40,000
of annual data revenue
• 33% of annual data
revenue in excess of
US$40,000
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Harris Payments to exactEarth Ltd.

Revenue related to Class A
Transponders

• 50% of data revenues achieved by Harris resulting
from Harris data sales to the U.S. Government(4)
• 33% of Class A Harris non-U.S. Government revenue(7)

• 18% of U.S. Government
revenue
• 33% of Class A Harris
non-U.S. Government
revenue(7)

Revenue related to Non-Class A
Transponders

• 50% of all revenues

ShipViewTM

• 50% of U.S. Government revenues related to the sales of ShipViewTM licenses(4)

Harris Proprietary Products(5)

• 5% of all revenue
Payments related to Future Products
• If both parties contributed to investments required to produce and develop new
product in proportion of respective contribution then the revenue shares outlined
above apply

Future Products

• In the case where one party does not make any investment in the new product,
they will be entitled to 40% of revenue from its own territory and 5% of revenue made
by the other party until the other party recovers its costs plus 50%
• Afterwards, normal revenue sharing applies, as outlined in the categories above

(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)

(5)
(6)

(7)

Under the terms of the Harris Agreement, each of us and Harris must meet certain minimum revenue targets. See the section titled “Risk
Factors” for information related to the revenue sharing terms of the Harris Agreement.
Included in revenue under this agreement is revenue derived from (a) the sales of AIS or VHF data and (b) the data portion (but not the
value-added portion) with respect to sale of value added products and services. Future products which are added over time will follow this
same model (i.e. revenue share on raw data content but not on value-added portion).
Pre-IOC, the revenue sharing percentage is multiplied by the ratio of commissioned Second Generation Constellation satellites to the total
amount of satellites expected to be commissioned as part of the Second Generation Constellation (as measured on the date one year
prior to the end of our most recent fiscal quarter-end). The ratio will depend on the number and timing of satellites that are successfully
launched and commissioned. The Company believes that under a best-case scenario the first batch of 10 satellites could be launched in
the Company’s 3rd fiscal quarter of 2016. So for illustration purposes if the first 10 Second Generation Satellites are brought into service at
the beginning of Q4 2016 then with respect to AIS/VHF data revenues achieved by exactEarth during Q4 2017 exactEarth would make a
revenue share payment to Harris equal to 10/58 x 40% of such revenues. No revenue payment would be due with respect to any revenues
earned before that time. For revenues earned in subsequent quarters the same sharing ratio would be used unless additional Second
Generation Satellites had been commissioned a year earlier in which case the revised total of operating satellites would be used and the
revenue share ratio to be applied in that subsequent quarter would be similarly recalculated. (e.g. if 10 more satellites were brought into
service in Q1 of 2017 then the revenue share ratio to be applied in Q1 2018 would be 20/58 x 40%) and so on until IOC is achieved after
which the sharing ratio is 40% on the first US$10,000 of quarterly revenue achieved.
At the beginning of the agreement a different revenue share is applied to Harris US Government revenues until the earlier of March 31, 2016
or the achievement of the “revenue trigger”. The “revenue trigger” under the Harris Agreement means the time at which the combined
total of: (i) 35% of the aggregate Revenue related to Class A Transponders and (ii) 35% of the aggregate ShipView revenue after June 8,
2015 meets or exceeds $790. Prior to the above criteria being achieved the revenue share on US Government revenues or ShipView license
sales paid by Harris shall be 15%, after these criteria are achieved the revenue share shall be as shown in the table above.
Under the agreement Harris has the right to utilize up to 10% of the capacity of the Second Generation Constellation for Harris Proprietary
Products. Harris Proprietary Products means data products specifically generated for Harris proprietary applications by the Second
Generation Constellation.
As described in Note 15 (Segment and Geographic Information) in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company’s
revenue is divided into three categories based on the types of products sold. As an illustration, the revenue shares that would have applied
to the financial years ended October 31, 2015 and 2014, assuming post-IOC levels, would have been approximately: (i) Subscription Services
40%; (ii) Data Products 40%; (iii) Other Products & Services 0%. The non-AIS data component of Subscription Services and of Data Products
revenue would have been approximately zero since the Company’s main non-AIS data product, ShipView, was released to the market late
in the financial year ended October 31, 2014. The revenue shares that would have applied to the financial years ended October 31, 2015
and 2014, assuming post-IOC levels, would have resulted in all of the Subscription Services and Data Products being subject to AIS data
revenue. As a reference point for the 12 months ending October 31, 2015 approximately 92% of exactEarth total revenues would have been
subject to revenue share under the agreement if Second Generation Constellation satellites had been deployed.
Under the agreement the Parties may agree in certain specific cases to allow the other Party to sell data within their Territory. In the event
that exactEarth agrees to such exceptions then the revenue sharing terms described shall occur.

In addition to the revenue-sharing payments described above, the Harris Agreement contemplates certain
payments between us and Harris:
Pre-IOC
•

We paid Harris US$3,000 on June 20, 2016, bringing the aggregate amount of commitment fees paid to
Harris to US$10,000;
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•

We will pay Harris US$50 per year for each satellite put in service as part of the Second Generation
Constellation (up to US$750 per quarter); and

•

During fiscal 2015, Harris made a US$2,500 one-time payment to us as consideration for co-ownership
rights to our historical AIS data for the two-year period preceding the agreement and in respect of our
placing our disaster recovery and backup media items into escrow.

Post-IOC
•

We will pay Harris US$3,000 annually, payable in quarterly installments.

Following the fifth anniversary of IOC, we are required to generate a minimum of US$51,000 in annual
revenue, while Harris is required to generate US$14,000 in annual revenue, in each case in respect of products
contemplated under the Harris Agreement. If a party to the Harris Agreement does not meet the minimum annual
revenue requirements and also fails to achieve a sufficient share of the total commercial S-AIS market as determined
by the Alliance Coordination Team (“ACT”), then the defaulting party shall elect either to (i) forego exclusivity in its
territory, following which the non-defaulting party must pay to the defaulting party 33% of the non-defaulting party’s
revenue generated from the territory that had formerly been exclusive to the defaulting party, or (ii) pay to the
non-defaulting party an amount equal to the revenue share that would have been payable to the non-defaulting
party had the minimum annual revenue target been met. Additional conditions are described in “Risk Factors”.
The Harris Agreement remains in effect until the later of 12.5 years after IOC, or when the Second Generation
Constellation does not meet certain service levels. We are restricted from entering into business arrangements that
are contrary to, or that conflict with the Harris Agreement, and have agreed to participate exclusively with Harris
during this period. The Harris Agreement relies on the deployment of a satellite constellation and certain advanced
technology. As such, it carries various risks which are further described under “Risk Factors”.
On November 23, 2015, we announced an AUD$2,000 (CAD$1,894) minority ownership investment in
technology company, Myriota Pty Ltd of Adelaide, Australia. As part of the Myriota investment, exactEarth has
obtained an exclusive license to utilise their technology in the maritime market. The Company elected to the allow
the option to make further investments in Myriota expire and does not anticipate increasing its shareholding in
Myriota. The Myriota technology uses advanced signal processing Intellectual Property (“IP”) developed at the
University of South Australia (UniSA) in order to develop advanced terminals, infrastructure and applications for the
fast growing Satellite Internet of Things (SIoT) global market. This core IP has been developed to create a disruptively
low-cost solution for this marketplace which will have the capability of supporting many millions of global users.
Myriota is particularly focused on the location tracking and sensor data applications markets. The full amount paid
has been allocated to the technology licence intangible. The Company will pay a 3.5% royalty on revenue derived
from the technology under licence. For additional information, refer to note 4 (Investment) and note 6 (Intangible
assets) in the Condensed Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.
On April 14, 2016, we announced a twenty-four-month Strategic Alliance with Larus Technologies
Corporation (“Larus”), an Ottawa-based provider of adaptive learning and predictive analytics software. Under the
Agreement, the two companies will work together to develop and market Big Data analytics-based software
applications and information services for the global surveillance and intelligence markets. As part of the Agreement,
exactEarth will gain an exclusive license to Larus' Big Data analytics platform (Total::Insight™) for the Maritime market
for consideration of $700, payable in twenty-four equal monthly payments commencing April 15, 2016. In return, Larus
will gain access to exactEarth's map visualisation IP for integration into Total::Insight-based solutions for non-Maritime
markets and to exactEarth's extensive data archive to perform advanced pattern-of-life analysis. exactEarth will
enhance existing, and develop new, maritime-focused information products and services by integrating technology
from the Total::Insight platform into its existing Maritime Big Data processing and supply chain IT infrastructure. New
application areas will include shipping movement and behavioural analysis and the companies will work together to
advance the capabilities in the exciting area of predictive analytics. The Agreement includes an option to purchase
all of the shares of Larus during the twenty-four-month term of the agreement and during the six months following
completion of the partnership. The option to purchase is currently valued at nil. At the end of the twenty-four month
term, we will begin paying a royalty of 30% on the gross sales of products that are derived from the Larus Total::Insight
technology. For additional information, refer to note 6 (Intangible assets), note 8 (Loans payable, financial instruments
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and foreign exchange) and note 10 (Commitments and contingencies) in the Condensed Notes to the Interim
Consolidated Financial Statements.
On May 5, 2016, Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada announced a $54,000
Technology Demonstration Program contribution to MDA Systems Ltd. (“MDA”) and its partners. The funding is
designed to support large scale technology demonstration projects related to the Canadian aerospace, defence,
space and security industries. On May 9, 2016, exactEarth entered into a Technology Demonstration Program
Collaboration Agreement (“TDP Agreement”) with MDA as a Partner Recipient under the Technology Demonstration
Program related to Space Technology and Advanced Research (“STAR”). The TDP Agreement provides funding at
50% of eligible costs in respect of STAR projects to a maximum total funding value of $1,250. This funding is available
to partially offset eligible STAR project costs during the period commencing August 12, 2014 and ending March 31,
2022. The funding recognized as an offset to cost of revenue in the three months ended July 31, 2016 was $552.
Staffing
We rely on the knowledge and talent of our employees and we make use of their expertise in satellite
operations, Big Data architecture, web services, software and product development and consulting services. The
number of employees at July 31, 2016 was 65 (July 31, 2015: 65).
Overall Performance
Revenue was $4,008 and $15,610 for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 compared to $7,781
and $19,138 in 2015. Government departments are our main target customers since our system capabilities are closely
matched to their service requirements. Government customers contributed $2,572 and $11,749 to revenue in the
three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 which was a 48% and 19% decrease from the government customer
revenues of $4,914 and $14,554 in 2015. This was primarily due to the temporary cessation of subscription services
during the second quarter to the Government of Canada (“GoC”) while their contract was in the process of being
renewed, and the much lower GOC contract value won during the third quarter. There was a 50% and 16% decrease
in non-government department customer revenues during the same periods with revenue of $1,436 and $3,861 in the
three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 compared to $2,867 and $4,584 in 2015. We had Order Bookings of $15,998
and $21,899 compared to $5,013 and $9,023 in 2015. Orders increased in the nine-month period ended July 31, 2016,
due to our expanding customer base and the sale of additional product offerings. Revenue related to subscription
orders will typically be realized over a twelve-month period, while revenue related to product orders is realized upon
delivery.
Volatility in exchange rates between Canadian and foreign currencies such as the US dollar, the Euro and
the Pound sterling impact the business as a portion of our revenues are billed in non-Canadian currencies
(predominately in Pounds sterling) and recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Position in the form of
cash, receivables and payables. The Bank of Canada average noon GBP/CAD exchange rate during the three and
nine months ended July 31, 2016 was $1.8101 and $1.9137, compared to an average of $1.9395 and $1.8773 for the
same period in 2015. The Bank of Canada average noon Euro/CAD exchange rate during the three and nine months
ended July 31, 2016 was $1.4515 and $1.4741, compared to an average of $1.3882 and $1.3906 for the same period
in 2015. The Bank of Canada average noon USD/CAD exchange rate during the three and nine months ended July
31, 2016 was $1.2956 and $1.3313, compared to an average of $1.2483 and $1.2217 for the same period in 2015.
Adjusted EBITDA for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 was $(292) and $862 compared to $3,614
and $5,657 in 2015. The decreases in Adjusted EBITDA were driven primarily by lower revenue from the GoC contract
renewal, an increase in operating expenses, which were made to support our growth initiatives, and the introduction
of costs related to being a public company. For further details, please refer to the Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation
included later in this MD&A.
In December 2015, the GoC initiated a request-for-proposal (“RFP”) competitive process to procure S-AIS
services and on May 5, 2016, the contract was awarded exclusively to exactEarth. With its decision, the GoC selected
a service level that was well below that which it previously subscribed to. The awarded contract value represents
approximately $100 per year, which is approximately $7,100 per year lower than the annual revenue level generated
by exactEarth for S-AIS data services that were previously provided to the GoC for their domestic use. We remain in
frequent contact with our client to determine if they are receiving the service level they require for their various uses.
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On July 30, 2012, COM DEV and Hisdesat made available a revolving credit facility. The outstanding credit
facility balances were converted to equity at February 4, 2016 upon completion of the Spinout Transaction (2015:
$19,226). The interest charges on the credit facility for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 were nil and
$455 compared to $326 and $894 in 2015. In addition, we had accounts payable to COM DEV and Hisdesat, primarily
related to capital in progress for data rights and satellites, purchase of services and rent, which were converted to
equity upon completion of the Spinout Transaction (October 31, 2015: $25,870). Interest of nil and $469 was charged
on shareholder accounts payable during the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 compared to $424 and
$1,156 in 2015. For additional information, refer to note 8 (Loans payable, financial instruments and foreign exchange)
and note 13 (Related parties) in the Condensed Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.
For an analysis of risks we face, please refer to the section titled “Risk Factors” in this MD&A.
Results of Operations
Revenue
We sell products in three broad categories: Subscription Services, Data Products and Other Products and
Services. Generally, Subscription Services are sold with a one-year period of service with revenue recognized equally
over the contract term. Data Products and Other Products and Services are generally sold on an as-demanded basis
and the revenue is recognized when the product is delivered to the customer, or for long-term projects, on a
percentage of completion basis. Revenue for the Data Products and for the Other Products and Services tends to be
less predictable and is subject to fluctuations from one period to the next.
Revenues for the three months ended July 31, 2016:
(in thousands of dollars)

Subscription
Services

Government departments

$

Commercial and other
Total revenue

1,560

Data Products
$

1,262
$

2,822

842

Other Products &
Services
$

174
$

1,016

170

Total Revenue
$

$

170

2,572
1,436

$

4,008

Revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2016:
(in thousands of dollars)

Subscription
Services

Government departments

$

Commercial and other
Total revenue

8,850

Data Products
$

3,406
$

12,256

1,824

Other Products &
Services
$

455
$

2,279

1,075

Total Revenue
$

$

1,075

11,749
3,861

$

15,610

Revenues for the three months ended July 31, 2015:
(in thousands of dollars)

Subscription
Services

Government departments

$

Commercial and other
Total revenue

4,156

Data Products
$

980
$

5,136

4

Other Products &
Services
$

1,887
$

1,891

754

Total Revenue
$

$

754

4,914
2,867

$

7,781

Revenues for the nine months ended July 31, 2015:
(in thousands of dollars)

Subscription
Services

Government departments

$

Commercial and other
Total revenue

12,724

Data Products
$

2,571
$

15,295

218

Other Products &
Services
$

2,013
$

2,231

1,612

Total Revenue
$

$

1,612

14,554
4,584

$

19,138

Our total revenue for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 was $4,008 and $15,610 compared to
$7,781 and $19,138 in 2015. The decrease in quarterly revenue is primarily a result of the temporary cessation of
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services to the GoC during the second quarter while awaiting the conclusion of the RFP process and the significant
reduction in revenue related to the renewed sales contract in the third quarter. This was partially offset by the growing
number of subscription-based revenue customers and greater sales of our expanded product offerings. For the three
and nine months ended July 31, 2016 we generated $806 and $1,621 in Data Products and $680 and $747 in
Subscription Services non-cash revenue from an Asset Transfer Agreement with Communitech related to the EV9
satellite. Under the agreement, we will provide in-kind datasets at a value of $3,666 in exchange for title to the
EV9 satellite, subject to certain restrictions within the six-year period ending March 31, 2021. Revenue from the
remaining $1,298 of in-kind data sets is expected to be recognized over the next six months. We anticipate that the
drivers for the next phase of revenue growth will be the expansion of our satellite constellation on-board Iridium NEXT,
new analytics applications for the S-AIS and maritime information services markets and sales tractions within the small
vessel tracking market.
Subscription Services revenue was $2,822 and $12,256 for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016
compared to $5,136 and $15,295 in 2015. The decrease in subscription revenue is due to the decrease in services to
the GoC during the second and third quarter. Subscription-based revenue represented 70% and 78% of our total
revenue in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 compared to 66% and 80% in 2015. Our Subscription
Services revenue is generally more predictable and steady, and therefore provides a solid foundation for our revenue
growth. However, with a lower renewal value for the GoC contract, we are expecting our subscription revenue to be
suppressed for the remainder of the year. Revenue from Data Products was $1,016 and $2,279 in three and nine
months ended July 31, 2016 compared to $1,891 and $2,231 in 2015. The Data Products revenue for the three and
nine months ended July 31, 2016 is due primarily to the provision of historical data of $806 and $1,621 as part of the
EV9 asset transfer commitment discussed in the paragraph above and in the section titled “Contractual Obligations”.
Revenue from Other Products & Services, which are not predictable as they are generated from on-demand
customer requests, was $170 and $1,075 in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 compared to $754 and
$1,612 in 2015.
Revenue by quarter
(in thousands of dollars)

Subscription
Services

Q4 2014

$

3,708

Data Products
$

329

Other Products
& Services
$

430

Total Revenue
$

4,467

Q1 2015

5,055

58

305

5,418

Q2 2015

5,104

282

553

5,939

Q3 2015

5,136

1,891

754

7,781

Q4 2015

5,297

1,690

475

7,462

Q1 2016

5,382

304

694

6,380

Q2 2016

4,052

959

211

5,222

Q3 2016

2,822

1,016

170

4,008

We are focused on launching the remainder of our First Generation satellites in calendar 2016 and in
developing analytics-based products for both the S-AIS and broader maritime markets; however, the growth in
Subscription Services revenue is expected to be muted until the remaining two satellite assets of our First Generation,
namely EV-7 and EV-8, are commissioned, and until the Iridium NEXT launches commence later this summer. EV-7 was
launched on June 22, 2016 and commissioning is underway. EV-8 is awaiting launch, but no confirmed launch date
has been announced at this time. As we increase our service levels and expand our product offerings, we expect
renewed growth in Subscription Services and Data Products revenue. Purchases of Data Products and Other
Products & Services is on demand, and therefore less predictable.
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Gross profit
Three months ended
(in thousands of dollars)

July 31, 2016

Gross profit

$

Gross margin

2,025

Nine months ended

July 31, 2015

July 31, 2016

July 31, 2015

$

$

$

50.5%

5,010
64.4%

8,445

11,233

54.1%

58.7%

Gross margin for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 was 50.5% and 54.1% compared to 64.4%
and 58.7% in 2015. Our gross margin decreased quarter over quarter due to lower Subscription Services and Data
Products revenue, offset in part by a decrease in cost of revenue due to the reimbursement of costs related to the
TDP Agreement. Costs increase relative to the number of satellites and ground stations, and volume of data
processing, rather than relative to the number of customers. Therefore, as our customer base expands, we expect
that our cost base will grow more slowly than the growth of our revenues which will result in increased gross margins.
We have substantively completed the build-out of our ground station expansion. As these ground stations become
operational, the related operating costs will exert downward pressure on gross profit.
Other expenses
Three months ended
(in thousands of dollars)
Research and development expenses
Selling, general and administrative
expenses
Product development
Other expense
Foreign exchange loss
Interest (income) expense

July 31, 2016
$

-

Nine months ended

July 31, 2015
$

15

July 31, 2016
$

28

July 31, 2015
$

46

1,654

2,599

5,728

6,194

513

345

1,415

1,046

75

28

155

55

190

28

925

295

(3)

316

312

983

Research and development (R&D)
We incurred nil and $28 in expense for research and development in the three and nine months ended July
31, 2016 compared to $15 and $46 in 2015. R&D has remained low as the technology used to receive and de-collide
S-AIS signals has matured and efforts have been more focused on customer facing product development.
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased to $1,654 and $5,728 in the three and nine months
ended July 31, 2016 compared to $2,599 and $6,194 in 2015. Selling expenses will fluctuate from year to year
depending on the volume of new subscriptions versus renewals and the timing of renewals. General expenses
decreased compared to the same quarter last year, reflecting our prior year investment in our growth plan and
offering related expenses. An increased allowance for doubtful accounts related to accounts receivable that were
considered impaired as a result of delays in collection and credit issues partially offset the decrease in general
expenses in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016. We incurred higher administrative expenses beginning in
the second quarter compared to previous quarters due to the increased costs associated with being a publicly
traded company.
Product development
Product development expense increased to $513 and $1,415 in the three and nine months ended July 31,
2016 compared to $345 and $1,046 in 2015, as more web based functionality is under development and new product
offerings are in progress.
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Other expense
Other expense was $70 and $152 in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 compared to $28 and
$55 in 2015, comprising miscellaneous expenses.
Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange amounts in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss include realized and
unrealized gains and losses that result from translation of foreign denominated balances in our Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position. The impact of translation of outstanding foreign denominated balances in the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and of settling foreign denominated balances into cash during the
year was a loss of $190 and $925 in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016, compared to a loss of $28 and
$295 in 2015.
Interest (income) expense
Interest charges in prior periods primarily related to our outstanding term debt facilities. We generated net
interest income of $3 and interest expense of $312 during the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 compared
to interest expense of $316 and $983 in 2015. Interest expense decreased due to the conversion of shareholder credit
facilities and accounts payable to shareholders’ equity upon completion of the Spinout Transaction.
Impairment losses
At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whether there are events or circumstances
indicating that an asset may be impaired. Such events or circumstances notably include material adverse changes
which in the long-term impact the economic environment or the Company’s assumptions or objectives. The
Company considers the relationship between its market capitalization and the book value of its equity, among other
factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment. During the second quarter of fiscal 2016, our market
capitalization was lower than our carrying amount. As a result of this indicator, as of April 30, 2016, we performed an
interim impairment test. The impairment test was performed using a value in use model to calculate the recoverable
amount, as defined by International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 36, using assumptions that represent
management’s best estimate of future economic and market conditions in line with the target operating model.
Certain significant assumptions used for the interim impairment test have been adjusted compared with those used
for the Company’s annual October 31, 2015 impairment test. The terminal growth rate was reduced from 3.25% to
2.5% to reflect current inflation rates, and the discount rate was increased from 14.7% to 21.0% to reflect current
market risks as indicated by a lower market capitalization value. The recoverable amount resulting from the value in
use calculation using the above assumptions is $45,853. As a result of the impairment test performed as at April 30,
2016, impairment losses recognized were $17,728 related to property, plant & equipment and $10,259 related to
intangible assets, allocated on a pro-rata basis. The Company’s market capitalization remains lower than the carrying
amount as at July 31, 2016. However, there have been no significant developments in the quarter that would require
changes to the model used for the April 30, 2016 impairment test or significant changes to the Company’s carrying
value; accordingly, it was not necessary to test for impairment at July 31, 2016 and no further impairment was
recorded. For additional information, refer to note 7 (Impairment of long-lived assets) in the Condensed Notes to the
Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Adjusted EBITDA
Three months ended
(in thousands of dollars)

July 31, 2016

Net (loss) income

$

Interest (income) expense

(1,315)

July 31, 2015
$

(3)

Income tax expense
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA

$

Nine months ended
309

-

1,370

Offering related expenses

$

316

911
(407)

July 31, 2016

$

-

1,995

(31,828)

July 31, 2015
$

(1,496)

312

983

3,723

4,110

$

(27,793)

$

3,597

1,302

-

1,574

317

215

486

Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)

(73)

Share-based compensation

188

-

454

-

-

-

27,987

-

Impairment losses
Adjusted EBITDA

$

(292)

$

3,614

$

863

$

5,657

Adjusted EBITDA for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 was $(292) and $863 compared to $3,614
and $5,657 in 2015. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA was driven by higher net losses, decreased interest expense,
and, for the three months ended July 31, 2016, an unrealized foreign exchange gain. We believe that Adjusted
EBITDA provides a relevant measure of the results of our main business activities before taking into consideration how
they are financed or taxed and excluding the impact of certain non-cash expenses and items that are considered
to be outside of our ongoing operating results.
Net loss
Net loss was $1,315 and $31,828 in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016, compared to net income
of $309 and a net loss of $1,496 in 2015. Excluding the $27,987 non-cash impairment and write-down of certain assets,
net loss was $1,315 and $3,841 in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016. Excluding the non-cash write-down,
the increase in net loss is primarily due to lower revenue and higher product development expenses, which were
partially offset by a decrease in cost of revenue, selling, general and administrative expense and interest expense.
Financial position
The following chart outlines the significant changes in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
between October 31, 2015 and July 31, 2016:

(in thousands of dollars)

Increase/
(Decrease)

Explanation

Cash and cash equivalents

$

12,722 The cash increase was due to the Spinout Transaction funding of
$20,440. Refer to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows in the
Interim Consolidated Financial Statements for further details.

Accounts receivable

$

(2,260) Collections exceeded billings during the first half of 2016, primarily
due to significant payments on trade receivables, offset by an
additional allowance of $376.

Unbilled revenue

$

(1,155) Unbilled revenue reflects the amount of revenue recognized in
advance of billings. The balance decreased due to billings
outpacing revenue recognition compared to prior year end. As we
transition to a calendar month end close, the amount of unbilled
revenue is expected to decrease because billings for Subscription
Services are typically processed on the last day of the month.

Prepaid expenses and other

$

346 Miscellaneous prepaid expenses, accrued at a rate faster than the
related expenses were recognized.
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(in thousands of dollars)

Increase/
(Decrease)

Explanation

Property, plant and
equipment

$

(17,570) Property, plant and equipment decreased as a result of $2,619 of
depreciation, $17,728 of impairment and $60 relating to foreign
exchange, offset by capital expenditures of $2,837.

Intangible assets

$

(5,942) Intangible assets decreased as a result of $1,104 of amortization
and $10,259 of impairment, offset by capital expenditures of $5,421,
primarily related to the investment in the Myriota Technology
Licence, the Larus Technology Licence and additional value in data
rights related to non-monetary transfers of data related to the EV9
asset transfer agreement.

Current accounts payable
and accrued liabilities

$

(6,432) The decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the first
quarter of 2016 is primarily due to related party accounts payable
converted to shareholders’ equity upon completion of the Spinout
Transaction.

Deferred revenue

$

(44) Deferred revenue reflects billings that occur in advance of revenue
recognition. The decrease reflects this timing difference where
revenue outpaced billings as compared to prior year end.

Due to related parties
(current and non-current)

$

Loans payable (current and
non-current)

$

276 The increase in long term loans payable is related to the purchase
of the Larus Technology Licence and imputed interest on the FED
DEV loan and Larus debt, offset by principle payments.

Long-term incentive plans
(current and non-current)

$

72 Increase related to restricted stock units and preferred stock units
expected to be settled in cash, offset by the reversal of the
long-term profit sharing plan liability.

Share capital

$

Contributed surplus

$

300 Increase related to stock options, which will be equity settled.

Accumulated other
comprehensive loss

$

266 Increase attributed to foreign exchange on translation of the
foreign subsidiary for the nine months ended July 31, 2016.

Deficit

$

(45,075) Due to related parties balances were converted to shareholders’
equity upon completion of the Spinout Transaction.

68,606 Issuance of share capital upon completion of the Spinout
Transaction.

(31,828) Net loss of $31,828.

Liquidity and capital resources
The key liquidity and capital resource items are as follows:
(in thousands of dollars)
Cash

July 31, 2016
$

15,087

October 31, 2015
$

% Change

2,365

538%
(58%)

Trade accounts receivable

1,605

3,865

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

4,534

10,966

(59%)

21

25,870

(100%)

COM DEV loan

-

14,076

(100%)

Hisdesat loan

-

5,150

(100%)

2,073

1,797

Due to related parties excluding credit facility

Loans payable

15%
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Significant cash flows:
Three months ended
(in thousands of dollars)

July 31, 2015

July 31, 2016

Cash (used in) from operating activities

$

Cash used in investing activities

(1,769)

$

(211)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

46

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

$

Cash, beginning of the period
$

$

(6,494)

$

(1,425)
(8,782)

4,393

22,954

71

$

$

$

8,311
393

12,722

$

2,365

3,533

$

4,243
(11,817)

(25)

3,462

15,087

July 31, 2015

(7,327)
413

21,581

Cash, end of the period

July 31, 2016

2,592

(4,560)

Cash (used in) from financing activities

Nine months ended

1,130
2,403

15,087

$

3,533

Operating activities
We used $1,769 and $1,425 of cash in operating activities in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016
compared with $2,592 and $4,243 generated in 2015. We used $111and generated $576 in non-cash working capital
in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 compared to $468 and $576 generated in 2015. The change in
non-cash working capital was mainly due to decreases in accounts receivable and unbilled revenue and an increase
in loans payable, offset by a decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to related parties.
Investing activities
We used $4,560 and $8,782 of cash for investing activities in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016
compared with $7,327 and $11,817 in 2015. The use of cash during the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 is
the result of acquisitions of property, plant and equipment totalling $829 and $2,117 compared to $769 and $5,183 in
2015 and intangible assets totalling $3,731 and $6,785 compared to $6,594 and $7,005 in 2015. Investments in property,
plant and equipment primarily relate to satellite and ground station additions. Investments in intangible assets relate
to primarily to technology licences and data rights.
Financing activities
We used $211 and generated $22,954 of cash in financing activities during the three and nine months ended
July 31, 2016, compared to $4,393 and 8,311 generated in 2015. The increase in cash from financing since prior year
end is primarily related to the equity investment related to the Spinout Transaction, partially offset by repayment of
the government loan and long-term debt.
Contractual obligations
The following table outlines the contractual cash obligations (excluding accounts payable and accrued
liabilities) as at July 31, 2016:
(in thousands of dollars)
Lease obligation

Less than
one year

Total
$

Government loan

147

$

116

1-3 years
$

31

1,764

492

1,272

Larus Technologies debt

583

350

Long-term profit sharing plan

154

37

2,412

2,412

Capital commitments
Total contractual obligations

$

5,060

$

3,407

$

4-5 years
$

-

After 5 years
$

-

-

-

233

-

-

114

3

-

-

-

-

1,650

$

3

$

-

As at July 31, 2016, we had various contractual cash obligations, including government debt and capital
commitments.
We entered into an arrangement effective March 17, 2015 committing us to provide in-kind datasets at a
value of $3,666, not licensed for commercial use, in exchange for title to the EV9 satellite, subject to certain restrictions
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on the use, sale or transfer of the satellite within the six-year period ending March 31, 2021. Once the contributions
are made and the six-year period has expired, we will have free title to the EV9 satellite. Datasets valued at $2,368,
based on comparable commercial transactions, have been transferred as at July 31, 2016. For additional information,
refer to note 10 (Commitments and contingencies) in the Condensed Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Credit facilities
Balances owing under our credit facilities with COM DEV and Hisdesat were converted to shareholders’
equity upon the completion of the Spinout Transaction. For additional information refer to note 8 (Loans payable,
financial instruments and foreign exchange) in the Condensed Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial
Statements. We believe that we have sufficient resources to allow us to meet our business plan objectives, including
normal commitments for capital expenditures for the current fiscal year.
Off-balance sheet arrangements
As at July 31, 2016, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, other than operating leases as
disclosed in note 10 (Commitments and contingencies) in the Condensed Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Transactions with related parties
During 2012, Hisdesat and COM DEV made available a revolving credit facility to us which is described in
note 8 (a)(i) and (ii) in the Condensed Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements. During the three and
nine months ended July 31, 2016, the interest charged on these loans was $15 and 455 compared to $291 and $568
in 2015. In addition, we had accounts payable to COM DEV and Hisdesat, primarily related to capital in progress for
data rights and satellites, purchase of services and rent. The interest charged on accounts payable to COM DEV and
Hisdesat for the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 was $3 and $469 compared to $366 and $732 in 2015. All
intercompany balances were converted to shareholders’ equity when COM DEV completed the Spinout Transaction.
During the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 we incurred $21 and $21 of directors’ expenses. For additional
information, refer to note 13 (Related parties) in the Condensed Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Proposed transactions
We did not have any proposed transactions as at July 31, 2016.
Subsequent events
On August 16, 2016, exactEarth was selected by the Fisheries Commission (West Africa Regional Fisheries Programme),
an agency of the Ministry of Fisheries and Aquaculture Development (MOFAD) of the Government of Ghana, for the
provision of Satellite AIS data services as well as a small vessel tracking solution. The contract value is in a range of
$1,000 - $2,000 for a 12-month period.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of our financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. These estimates are based upon management’s historical experience and various other assumptions that
are believed by management to be reasonable under the circumstances. Such assumptions and estimates are
evaluated on an ongoing basis and form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources as well as the periodic recognition of revenue and cost of
revenue. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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We believe the following critical accounting policies affect its more significant estimates and assumptions
used in the preparation of our financial statements.
Revenue recognition
The majority of revenue is derived from the sale of data subscriptions. For subscription revenue, the timing of
cash flows generally precedes the recognition of revenue and income, any initial payments are deferred and
recognized rateably as delivered over the subscription period. Revenue is recognized upon delivery for
non-subscription data sales.
We occasionally provide goods and services to our customers under long-term contracts. We recognize
revenue on long-term contracts on the percentage of completion basis, based on costs incurred relative to the
estimated total contract costs. Losses on such contracts are accrued when the estimate of total costs indicates that
a loss will be realized. Accruals are drawn down as loss contracts progress. Contract billings received in excess of
recognized revenue are included in current liabilities.
Project costs to complete
At the outset of each customer project, an estimate of the total expected cost to complete the scope of
work under contract is made. During the course of the projects, these estimates are reviewed and revised to reflect
current expectations of cost to complete, and total cost. These estimates are based on specific knowledge of the
status of the project, as well as historical understanding of costs on similar projects. Cost elements include material,
direct labour, and overhead costs, with labour and overhead costs being determined using pre-established costing
rates applied to estimated labour hours required to complete the scope of work under contract. These estimates are
reviewed on a monthly and quarterly basis to ensure the estimates reflect the current expectations for total costs,
however this is not a guarantee that unforeseen or additional costs won’t be incurred, which would have an impact
on project total cost, reported revenue, and gross margins. Management believes it has effective control procedures
in place to ensure the validity of these estimates at the time they are made.
Allowance for doubtful accounts
We have established an allowance for doubtful accounts taking into consideration aging of the receivables,
communications with customers, credit issues, and historical losses. We will increase the allowance for specific
accounts if it has objective evidence that its customer is experiencing significant financial difficulty.
Useful life of intangible and long-term assets
We have established policies for determining the useful life of our intangible and long-term assets, and
amortize the costs of these assets over those useful lives. The useful life for each category of asset is determined based
on the expectation of our ability to continue to generate revenues, and thus, our cash flows. This ability is tested
periodically to ensure the conditions still exist to allow the asset to be reflected at its net-recorded value in our
accounts, and any impairment to the valuation is reflected in such accounts at the time the impairment
is determined.
Recoverable amount for long-lived assets
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use, and is determined for an individual asset or at the CGU level if individual assets do not have
largely independent cash inflows. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken
into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.
Capitalization of development costs
When capitalizing development costs, we must assess the technical and commercial feasibility of the
projects and estimate the useful lives of resulting products. Determining whether future economic benefits will flow

16

from the assets, and therefore, the estimates and assumptions associated with these calculations are instrumental in:
(i) deciding whether project costs can be capitalized, and (ii) accurately calculating the useful life of our projects.
Employee benefits
We sponsor a defined contribution pension plan for all of our employees. The cost of providing benefits
through the defined contribution pension plan is charged to income in the period in which the contributions
become payable.
Financial instruments
The valuation of our financial instruments requires estimation of the fair value of each instrument at the
reporting date. Details of the basis on which fair value is estimated are provided in note 8 (Loans payable, financial
instruments and foreign exchange) in the Condensed Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements.
Changes in Accounting Policies Including Initial Adoption
There were no changes to accounting policies during the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016.
Future changes in accounting policies
A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations were not effective for the
three and nine months ended July 31, 2016, and have not been applied in preparing the Interim Consolidated
Financial Statements. The following standards and interpretations have been issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committees with effective dates
relating to the annual accounting periods starting on or after the effective dates as follows:
International Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial instruments: classification and measurement
International Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement (“IFRS 9”)
as issued reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. On November 19, 2013, the IASB
published IFRS 9, Hedge Accounting, which is a part of the third phase of its replacement of IAS 39. The new
requirements allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities in the financial statements. As part of the
amendments, entities may change the accounting for liabilities that they have elected to measure at fair value
before applying any of the requirements in IFRS 9. This change in accounting would mean that gains caused by a
worsening in an entity’s own credit risk on such liabilities would no longer be recognized in profit or loss. Because the
second phase of the IFRS 9 project related to impairment is not yet completed, the IASB decided that a mandatory
effective date of January 1, 2015 would not allow sufficient time for entities to prepare to apply IFRS 9. Accordingly,
the IASB determined to apply a later mandatory effective date, which will be determined when IFRS 9 is closer to
completion. However, entities may still choose to apply IFRS 9 immediately. IFRS 9 must be applied retrospectively;
however, hedge accounting is to be applied prospectively (with some exceptions). The amendment becomes
effective for us on November 1, 2018. We are currently assessing the impact of adopting this new standard.
International Financial Reporting Standard 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
In May 2014, the IASB issued International Financial Reporting Standard 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“IFRS 15”), which replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related Interpretations.
IFRS 15 is currently effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted.
We are currently assessing the impact of adopting this new standard.
International Financial Reporting Standard 16, Leases
On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued International Financial Reporting Standard 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”), which
will replace International Accounting Standard 17, Leases (“IAS 17”). The new standard will be effective for fiscal
years beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers at or before the date of initial adoption of IFRS 16. The new standard introduces a
single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of
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more than twelve months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use
asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease
payments. This standard substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of IAS 17, while requiring
enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors. Other areas of the lease accounting model have been impacted,
including the definition of a lease. We are currently assessing the impact of adopting this new standard.
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure controls and procedures
The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports filed under Canadian securities laws is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified under those laws, and include controls and
procedures that are designed to ensure that information is accumulated and communicated to management,
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
Management’s quarterly report on internal control over financial reporting
Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards. Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting for the Company. Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. The Company used the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) 2013 framework to evaluate the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting.
Changes in internal controls over financial reporting
Except as disclosed below, the Company made no changes to internal controls over financial reporting
during the quarter ended July 31, 2016, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
During the preparation of financial information for the interim period ended April 30, 2016, a material weakness over
financial reporting was identified relating to the Company’s design of internal control specific to the measurement
assumptions of an impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. This material weakness was
recognized and rectified by management such that the impairment charges set out in the financial information for
the quarter ended April 30, 2016 reflect the use of reasonable and supportable assumptions as required by IAS 36.
The Company has implemented additional procedures related to the utilization of reasonable and supportable
assumptions as required by IAS 36 to address the identified weakness by updating its documentation of key financial
controls, process narratives and enhancing and maintaining documentation evidence around its control processes
to the precision level required in order to detect a material misstatement. The Company does not expect to
undertake further remediation.
RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY
Our satellites use highly complex technology and operate in the harsh environment of space and therefore are
subject to significant operational risks while in orbit.
Our satellites use highly complex technology and operate in the harsh environment of space and therefore
are subject to significant operational risks while in orbit. The risks include equipment failures, malfunctions and other
kinds of problems commonly referred to as anomalies. Satellite anomalies include, for example, circuit failures,
transponder failures, solar array failures, battery cell and other power system failures, satellite control system failures
and propulsion system failures. Acts of war, terrorism, magnetic, electrostatic or solar storms, space debris, satellite
conjunctions or micrometeoroids could also damage our satellites.
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In addition, the AIS signals we receive in space were not intended to be received in space. The development
of highly sensitive space receivers has enabled our business. These receivers detect signals, AIS or otherwise, that are
emitted from the earth’s surface. Signals that are not AIS cause interference to the space detection of AIS. New
transmitters could be deployed on the earth that emit in the same frequencies as AIS and cause our service to be
severely compromised or disabled.
Any single anomaly or series of anomalies or other failure (whether full or partial) of any of our satellites could
cause our revenues and cash flows to decline materially, could damage our reputation and goodwill, and could
have a material adverse effect on our relationships with current customers and our ability to attract new customers.
In addition, an anomaly that has a material adverse effect on a satellite’s overall performance or anticipated future
commercial service life could require us to recognize an impairment loss. It may also require that we expedite or
delay its planned replacement program, adversely affecting our profitability, increasing our financing needs and
limiting the availability of funds for other business purposes. Finally, the occurrence of anomalies may adversely affect
our ability to insure our satellites at commercially reasonable premiums, if at all, and may cause insurers to demand
additional exclusions in policies they issue.
It is possible that the actual commercial service lives of our satellites will be shorter than anticipated.
We anticipate that the satellites comprising our First Generation Constellation will have the expected
end-of-commercial-service life dates ranging from 10 to 12 years in service, depending on the type of satellite. It is
possible that the actual commercial service lives of our satellites will be shorter than anticipated. A number of factors
will affect the actual commercial service lives of our satellites, including: (i) the amount of propellant used in
maintaining the satellite’s orbital location or relocating the satellite to a new orbital location (and, for newly-launched
satellites, the amount of propellant used during orbit raising following launch), (ii) the durability and quality of their
construction, (iii) the performance of their components, (iv) conditions in space such as solar flares and space debris,
(v) operational considerations, including operational failures and other anomalies, (vi) changes in technology which
may make all or a portion of our satellite fleet obsolete.
Each of our satellites is required to, and has, a de-orbit plan for the end of its life. In each case the satellite is
decommissioned, costs for supporting it will cease to accumulate and it will naturally de-orbit and burn up in the
atmosphere. We periodically review the anticipated commercial service lives of each of our satellites using current
engineering data. A reduction in the commercial service life of any of our satellites could result in the recognition of
an impairment loss, an acceleration of capital expenditures and a loss of revenue from impediments to delivering
timely data.
Satellites are subject to launch failures, which could result in a delayed launch or damage to a satellite.
We currently have 7 operational satellites in orbit, one satellite undergoing commissioning, and one satellite
awaiting launch . Satellites are subject to certain risks related to failed launches. Launch vehicles may fail. Launch
failures result in significant delays in the deployment of satellites because of the need to construct replacement
satellites (which can take up to 24 months or longer) or to obtain another launch vehicle. Such significant delays
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business prospects and financial condition. A delay
in launching replacement satellites may cause the aggregation and processing of vessel data to suffer and ultimately
to not be delivered to customers. Launch vehicles may also underperform, in which case the satellite may be lost or,
if it can be placed into service by using its onboard propulsion systems to reach the desired orbital location, will have
a shorter useful life. A failed launch could also increase, perhaps prohibitively, our cost of insuring future launches. In
addition, we do not have insurance against business interruption, loss of revenues or delay of revenues to cover such
events and such revenues may not be recoverable.
Our current insurance does not protect us against all satellite-related losses that we may experience and does not
protect us against business interruption, loss of revenues or delay of revenues.
Our business is subject to a number of risks and hazards including adverse conditions or changes in the
regulatory environment. Such occurrences could result in damage to equipment, personal injury or death, monetary
losses and possible legal liability. Despite any insurance coverage which we currently have or may secure in the
future, the nature of these risks is such that liabilities might exceed policy limits, the liabilities and hazards might not be
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insurable, or we may elect not to insure against such liabilities due to high premium costs or other reasons, in which
event we could incur significant costs that could have a materially adverse effect upon our financial position.
While we do have insurance coverage for failures of our satellites, including launch and in-orbit coverage,
our current insurance does not protect us against all satellite-related losses that we may experience. Our insurance
does not protect us against business interruption, loss of revenues or delay of revenues. Our existing launch and in-orbit
insurance policies include, and any future policies that we obtain can be expected to include, specified exclusions,
deductibles and material change limitations. Typically, these insurance policies exclude coverage for damage or
losses arising from acts of war, anti-satellite devices, electromagnetic or radio frequency interference and other
similar potential risks for which exclusions are customary in the industry at the time the policy is written. In addition,
they typically exclude coverage for satellite health-related problems affecting our satellites that are known at the
time the policy is written or renewed. Any claims under existing policies are subject to settlement with the insurers.
The price, terms and availability of satellite insurance has fluctuated significantly in recent years. These
fluctuations may be affected by recent satellite launch or in-orbit failures and general conditions in the insurance
industry. Launch and in-orbit policies on satellites may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable
terms or at all. To the extent we experience a launch or in-orbit failure that is not fully insured, or for which insurance
proceeds are delayed or disputed, we may not have sufficient resources to replace the affected satellite. In addition,
higher premiums on insurance policies increase costs, thereby reducing our available cash. In addition to higher
premiums, insurance policies may provide for higher deductibles, shorter coverage periods, higher loss percentages
required for constructive total loss claims and additional satellite health-related policy exclusions. There can be no
assurance that, upon the expiration of an in-orbit insurance policy, which typically has a term of one year, we will be
able to renew the policy on terms we find acceptable.
Replacing satellites at the end of service life is costly and we may not have sufficient funds available to replace those
satellites.
To ensure no disruption in our business and to prevent loss of customers, we will be required to commence
construction of a replacement satellite approximately 3 to 5 years prior to the expected end-of-life of the subject
satellite then in orbit. Typically, it currently costs in the range of $3,000 to $10,000 to construct, launch and insure a
satellite that is capable of producing 3,000,000 AIS reports per day. There is no assurance that we will have sufficient
cash, cash flow or be able to obtain third party or shareholder financing to fund such expenditures on favorable
terms, if at all. Should we not have sufficient funds available to replace those satellites, it could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, business prospects and financial condition.
Delays in launching satellites are not uncommon and result from construction delays, the periodic unavailability of
reliable launch opportunities, delays in obtaining required regulatory approvals, weather, timetable conflicts and
launch failures.
We are dependent on launch schedules which have proven to be extremely variable. We either sign
agreements to allow our payloads to be hosted on other company’s satellites or we launch our own satellites. Inherent
in either method are possible delays in satellite launch schedules. Delays in launching satellites are not uncommon
and result from construction delays, the periodic unavailability of reliable launch opportunities, delays in obtaining
required regulatory approvals, weather, timetable conflicts and launch failures, as well as government intervention
such as sanctions imposed affecting the company contracted to launch the satellite, which can also result in
cancellation of the launch. If satellite construction schedules are not met, a launch opportunity may not be available
at the time the satellite is ready to be launched. Delays in the commencement of service may affect plans to replace
an in-orbit satellite prior to the end of its service life, may result in the expiration or cancellation of launch insurance
and may result in the loss of regulatory approvals for satellite launch and operations. The failure to implement new or
replacement satellite deployment plans on schedule could adversely affect our ability to capture market share
and/or have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business prospects and financial condition.
Iridium NEXT may be our primary source for AIS data after IOC.
Pursuant to the Harris Agreement, we may generate all or a significant portion of our AIS data through the
Second Generation Constellation hosted on-board Iridium NEXT. The terms of the Harris Agreement require us to
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continue to operate our First Generation Constellation until IOC. When all of the satellites comprising the Second
Generation Constellation are operational, we may decide not to use our existing First Generation Constellation to
track AIS signals with the effect that we may become dependent on the Second Generation Constellation hosted
on-board Iridium NEXT for our AIS data. Additionally, given the upfront payments required from us under the Harris
Agreement, we may decide not to continue to invest in new satellites. Without a sufficiently large and modern fleet
of satellite assets of our own, we may become dependent on the Second Generation Constellation hosted on-board
Iridium NEXT for our AIS data. If that should occur, and there is an equipment failure, malfunction or other kind of
disruption such as a satellite anomaly, or Harris or Iridium fails to obtain or maintain proper regulatory approvals, we
may not be able to obtain AIS data or sufficient amounts of AIS data. This could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations, business prospects and financial condition.
The risk factors listed elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section that pertain to satellite risk, including launch
failure, commercial service lives of satellites and replacing satellites at the end of service life, should be read as also
applying to the Second Generation Constellation hosted on-board Iridium NEXT. We do not reduce our
satellite-related risk by not owning our own constellation of satellite assets.
Iridium has priority over the Second Generation Constellation hosted on- board Iridium NEXT.
Iridium’s core business is to deploy, operate and exploit satellite infrastructure to serve the communications,
telephony and data connectivity markets. Secondarily, Iridium has designed the Iridium NEXT infrastructure to support
hosted payloads including our Second Generation Constellation. We have agreed that the Iridium NEXT program,
Iridium NEXT and any satellite or payload that is part of Iridium NEXT has priority and takes precedence over the
operation of the Second Generation Constellation. This would require an unforeseen circumstance including, without
limitation, new government regulations or a systemic technical problem discovered at such a point in time as to make
it impossible to mitigate. This prioritization may result in Iridium deciding not to launch or host the Second Generation
Constellation, the suspension or discontinuance of operations or reduction of resources to the Second Generation
Constellation or otherwise degraded performance of the Second Generation Constellation which in each case could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business prospects and financial condition. We view such
circumstances as remote. In addition, the planned Second Generation Constellation is designed with excess
capacity so that should some satellites require prioritization of Iridium NEXT’s core mandate it should not impede our
ability to operate.
Iridium does not have any contractual obligations to us and we are not able to control any aspect of Iridium NEXT.
We do not have a contractual relationship with Iridium and Iridium does not have any contractual obligations
to us. Harris and Iridium have entered into a hosting and cost reimbursement agreement and a data transmission
services agreement (the “Iridium Agreements”) in connection with Iridium NEXT and the Second Generation
Constellation. The Iridium Agreements, to which we are not a party and to which we have not been granted access,
contain the contractual terms related to the hosting of the Second Generation Constellation. While Harris has
provided certain representations, warranties and covenants to us regarding the Iridium Agreements, only Harris on its
own behalf, can make a claim against Iridium for a breach of one or more of the Iridium Agreements. To the extent
that there is a breach under one or more of the Iridium Agreements that affects our ability to obtain AIS data from
the Second Generation Constellation hosted on-board Iridium NEXT, our recourse under the Harris Agreement is
limited, and this may have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are required to share a substantial part of our revenue with Harris Corporation pursuant to the Harris Agreement.
Under the terms of the Harris Agreement, each of us and Harris must pay a significant portion of our respective
revenues from the sale of AIS Source Data (as defined in the Harris Agreement) and AIS-based products to the other
party based on certain metrics related to timing and specific product categories. To our knowledge, prior to signing
the Harris Agreement, Harris did not generate revenues of the type subject to the revenue sharing provisions of the
Harris Agreement. This includes certain types of revenue which we do not expect Harris to generate in the immediate
future, including without limitation the “Class A Harris non-U.S. Government revenue” described under the heading
“U.S. Government Customers and Market”. There can be no guarantee that we will receive substantial revenue from
Harris. We may pay a substantial portion of our revenue to Harris while collecting a smaller amount from Harris in
return. There can be no guarantee that we will obtain a higher return on our capital that will be invested in upfront
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costs, annual costs and revenue share paid to Harris in exchange for AIS Source Data generated from the Second
Generation Constellation hosted on-board Iridium NEXT as compared to what we would have earned had we
invested such funds in our own satellite constellation and not been obligated to share our revenue with Harris.
The Harris Agreement includes a decision-making committee with broad discretion.
Pursuant to the Harris Agreement, we and Harris have delegated certain decision- making authority to the
ACT, a joint committee comprised of three representatives from each party. The ACT has the discretion to determine
certain operational and financial details such as determining the target service levels to be maintained by each of
us and Harris, setting certain aspects of pricing and amendments to revenue targets, to determine how
jointly-developed intellectual property should be owned and to decide on certain elements of dispute resolution.
Decisions of the ACT must be made unanimously, however in the event that a unanimous decision cannot be
reached, senior executives of each party will confer in good faith to resolve the dispute. The failure of the parties to
agree on contentious issues may have a material adverse impact on our business and ongoing operations.
We and Harris Corporation may have co-ownership rights in certain intellectual property.
Pursuant to the Harris Agreement, the ownership of any intellectual property that is jointly developed by us
and Harris during the term of the Harris Agreement will be allocated as we and Harris determine, but if we do not
reach agreement with Harris in this regard, the intellectual property will be jointly owned by us and Harris, unless
determined otherwise by the ACT. If we and Harris co-own such intellectual property, we each may exploit such
intellectual property rights, including transferring or licensing them. Depending on the arrangement with Harris, Harris
may use such intellectual property to its own advantage upon termination of the Harris Agreement. As a result, after
termination, Harris may become a competitor to us and we may not be able to retain some or all of our customers
or obtain business from new customers. We and Harris may dispute the ownership of certain intellectual property rights
required to operate our business or we and Harris may have failed to identify and protect valuable intellectual
property to reduce competition. Any of these outcomes could have a material adverse effect upon our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
We and Harris Corporation will have co-ownership rights in newly-created AIS data and certain AIS data currently
owned by us.
Pursuant to the Harris Agreement, we and Harris will be equal co-owners of AIS Source Data (as defined in
the Harris Agreement) produced during the term of the Harris Agreement and equal co-owners of certain of our
archived AIS data. Additionally, we and Harris will have co-ownership of AIS data produced by us using our First
Generation Constellation during the term of the Harris Agreement. Harris may use the co-owned Source Data and/or
AIS data to its own advantage following termination of the Harris Agreement. As a result, Harris may become a
competitor to us and we may not be able to retain some or all of our customers or obtain business from new customers
and this could have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Harris Agreement has non-competition provisions and is an exclusive agreement.
Pursuant to the Harris Agreement, we are restricted from entering into business arrangements that are
contrary to, or that conflict, with the Harris Agreement, and we have agreed to participate exclusively with Harris
during the term of the Harris Agreement. The Harris Agreement also contains non-competition provisions that prohibit
us from entering into, or providing, managerial, supervisory, administrative or consulting services or assistance to,
representing or owning any beneficial interest in, any business with operations engaged in the creation or sale of VHF
data services similar to those offered by the Second Generation Constellation, or products containing or derived
therefrom. These restrictions on our business may prevent us from entering into possible beneficial arrangements or
making certain acquisitions, in each case which may limit our ability to grow and generate additional revenue and
profits. These restrictions may result in us being reliant on Harris for revenue growth. If we are engaged in disputes with
Harris as a result of joint operations it could have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial condition and
our operations.
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Our strategic plan may be adversely impacted if the Harris Agreement is terminated, does not otherwise meet our
expected service levels or the parties fail to renew the Harris Agreement.
The term of the Harris Agreement is until the end of the mission life of Iridium NEXT (as determined by the
parties), or if we are unable to agree with Harris on a determination of this date, then the term shall end on the later
of (i) 12.5 years after IOC and (ii) the date on which the Second Generation Constellation no longer meets certain
service levels stipulated in the Harris Agreement. The Harris Agreement may also be terminated prior to the expiry of
the term upon occurrence of specific events of “force majeure” including, among others, systemic failure, destruction
or decommissioning of Iridium NEXT, failure of Iridium to obtain and maintain the proper authorizations, breaches by
Iridium or failure of Iridium to deliver AIS data. There can be no assurance as to the terms upon which the Harris
Agreement will be renewed, if at all, or that upon the termination of the Harris Agreement, we will be able to obtain
sufficient replacement infrastructure, or required funding in respect thereof, to obtain comparable AIS data and
consequently to continue to deliver our products and services at the same level of service to our existing and new
customers. If we are unable to renew the Harris Agreement, or unable to renew it on terms which are acceptable to
us, or we are unable to enter into a replacement agreement, it may have a material adverse effect upon our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are required to meet certain revenue targets under the Harris Agreement.
Under the terms of the Harris Agreement, each of us and Harris must meet certain minimum annual revenue
targets. Starting in our and Harris’ respective fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of IOC, we are required to
generate a minimum of US$51,000 in annual revenue, while Harris is required to generate US$14,000 in annual revenue,
in each case in respect of products contemplated under the Harris Agreement. If a party to the Harris Agreement
does not meet the minimum revenue requirements and also fails to achieve a sufficient share of the total commercial
S-AIS market as determined by the ACT, then the defaulting party shall elect either to (i) forego exclusivity in its territory,
following which the non-defaulting party must pay to the defaulting party 33% of the non-defaulting party’s revenue
generated from the territory that had formerly been exclusive to the defaulting party, or (ii) pay to the non-defaulting
party an amount equal to the revenue share that would have been payable to the non-defaulting party had the
minimum annual revenue target been met. There is no assurance that we or Harris may meet the minimum annual
revenue targets or the required market share of the commercial S-AIS market.
We have incurred significant operating losses in each of the last two years.
We incurred net losses of $1,315 and $31,828 in the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016 compared to
income of $309 and losses of $1,496 in 2015. At July 31, 2016, we had an accumulated deficit of $63,835. These losses
and accumulated deficit were due to the substantial investments we made to grow our business and acquire
customers.
Significant expenditures to support our growth strategy may include investments in our satellites, earth stations
and physical infrastructure, costs associated with the development of new products, expected increase in sales and
marketing expenses, general and administrative costs and potential strategic acquisitions. We expect that our
operating expenses will continue to increase as we spend resources on growing the business, and if our revenue does
not correspondingly increase, our operating results and financial condition will suffer. The amount of these
expenditures is difficult to forecast accurately and cost overruns may occur. We cannot be certain of the timing and
extent of revenue receipts and expense disbursements. To become profitable, we will have to generate sufficient
revenue while controlling costs and expenses. Our recent revenue growth should not be considered as indicative of
future performance. Accordingly, we cannot be sure that we will achieve profitability in the future, nor that, if we do
become profitable, that we will sustain profitability. Consequently, we cannot make assurances that we will generate
positive cash flows from operating activities in the future or, if we do generate positive cash flows from operating
activities, that they will be sustained.
We may suffer from a failure of our ground stations or our data processing facility which could result in a significant
loss of service for our customers.
We currently operate, or have commercial arrangements for the use of, fourteen ground stations situated in
a number of countries. Our ground stations use highly complex technology and are, in some cases, situated in remote
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locations. Additionally, one of our DPCs is located in Toronto, Ontario, Canada and is essential for processing data
collected from our satellites that has been routed through our ground stations. We may experience a partial or total
loss of one or more of these facilities due to natural disasters (tornado, flood, hurricane or other such acts of God),
fire, acts of war or terrorism or other catastrophic events. A failure at any of these facilities would cause a significant
loss of service for our customers. Additionally, there are inherent dangers and risks associated with our satellite
operations, including the risk of increased radiation and possibility of in-orbit collisions with other objects. We may
experience a failure in the necessary equipment at one or more ground stations, at our DPCs, or in the
communication links between our satellites, ground stations and DPCs. A failure at any of our facilities or in the
communications links between our facilities could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business
prospects and financial condition.
We may suffer from failure due to unforeseen technical problems, operator error or orbital collisions involving
our satellites.
Our satellites operate in a harsh environment of extreme temperatures, radiation, and space debris. It may
not be possible to detect the presence of space debris and in cases where we can, we may not be able to steer our
satellites out of the way. Operation of the satellites is carried out remotely and depends on being able to send
commands, via ground transmitters, to the satellites. Operator error or other issues could negatively impact the
operation of our satellites.
Our in-orbit satellites do not currently occupy all of the orbital locations for which we have obtained regulatory
authorizations.
Our First Generation Constellation and our Second Generation Constellation involve non-geostationary LEO
satellites which must operate within an approved orbital placement and using allotted frequencies pursuant to the
ITU’s coordination and notification procedures and Industry Canada regulations. Regarding the satellites we own or
operate that are part of our First Generation Constellation, we are responsible for obtaining the necessary approvals
from regulators and other radiocommunications operators. If we are unable to obtain regulatory approval for, or to
effect placement of satellites into currently unused orbital placements in a manner that satisfies the applicable
regulatory requirements, if there are delays in launching, or if we are unable to maintain satellites at the approved
orbital locations that we currently use and without causing harmful interference prohibited by the regulatory
requirements, we may become non-compliant with the regulatory requirements. We cannot operate our satellites
without suitable orbital placements and frequency allotments in which to launch and operate the satellites. The
inability to obtain approval for orbital placements or frequency allotments, the inability to operate in approved orbital
placements, the inability to achieve coordination and notification of the orbital placement and use of frequency
allocations in the future, and delays in launch could negatively affect our plans and our ability to implement our
business strategy. These same regulatory risks apply to other satellites in our First Generation Constellation that we do
not own or operate and the Iridium NEXT satellites in the Second Generation Constellation.
Any defects or malfunctions in the software we utilize in developing and providing our products could cause severe
performance failures.
Our existing and new products depend and will depend on the continuous, effective and reliable operation
of computer hardware and software. Any defect, malfunction or other failing in the computer hardware or software
we utilize could result in inaccurate data reading, misinterpretations of data, or other performance failures that could
render our services unreliable or ineffective and could lead to decreased confidence in our services, damage to our
reputation and reduction in our sales, the occurrence of any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, business prospects and financial condition. Although we update the computer software utilized
in our services on a regular basis, there can be no guarantee that defects do not or will not in the future exist or that
unforeseen malfunctions, whether within our control or otherwise, will not occur.
We may suffer a financial loss if we infringe on the intellectual property rights of others.
While we believe that neither we nor our products or services infringe or misappropriate the intellectual
property rights of any third parties, our commercial success depends, in part, on us not infringing or misappropriating
the intellectual property rights of others. A number of our competitors and other third parties may have obtained
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patents or may have pending patent applications that may be granted, and accordingly such parties may have or
obtain patent protection in one or more countries around the world for inventions similar to those which have been
or are being developed or used by us. Some of these patents may grant very broad protection to the third
party owners.
We have not undertaken a review to determine whether we or our products or services infringe any active
third party patents, or may infringe the potential issuance of any third party patents, or whether we would need to
change our operations, alter our products or services, obtain licenses, or cease certain activities as a result of the
patents or potential patents of others.
In certain cases, we may be prohibited from developing, using or selling certain services and products unless
we obtain a license from a third party. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain any such license on
commercially favourable terms or at all. If we do not obtain such a license, we may be required to cease the sale of
certain of our products and services and alter our products and services or alter our operations.
We may become subject to claims by third parties alleging that we or our products or services infringe or
misappropriate the intellectual property rights of others. Legal proceedings in one or more countries may be
necessary to determine the scope, enforceability and validity of third party intellectual property rights. Some of our
competitors have, or are affiliated with companies having, substantially greater resources than us and these
competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex intellectual property litigation to a greater degree and for
a longer period of time than we can. Regardless of the merit of any such infringement or misappropriation claims
they can be time consuming to evaluate and defend, result in costly legal proceedings, cause product shipment
and service delays or stoppages in one or more countries, divert management’s attention and focus away from the
business, subject us to significant liabilities and equitable remedies including damages and injunctions, require us to
enter into costly royalty or licensing agreements and require us to modify our activities, products, or services, or stop
using or selling certain products or services in one or more countries around the world.
We may suffer a significant financial loss if we do not successfully protect our intellectual property rights.
Our success depends, in part, on our ability to maintain various forms of legal protection including, without
limitation, patent, trademark, copyright, and confidential information protection over aspects of our products,
services, processes, and know-how, and over our trade secrets, inventions, and software (collectively referred to as
“technology”).
We have filed Patent Cooperation Treaty patent applications for certain aspects of our products, services
and operations. We have also filed for patent protection in the United States and have the option to enter the
national phase in a number of countries. However, we may not seek patent protection in all countries where we sell
or may sell our products and services due to the cost associated therewith other business considerations. We may
not obtain a patent application if it is refused by the local patent office of the corresponding filing country and we
may choose not to maintain a patent application or patent in a particular country.
We have recently acquired patents and patent applications from COM DEV in the field of systematic data
distilled from broadcasts of AIS messages. We have sublicensed certain of the intellectual property received from
COM DEV to others and have indemnified those parties with respect to claims of intellectual property infringement
resulting from the use of such intellectual property.
In connection with this acquisition, we have granted to COM DEV an exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual,
world- wide royalty-free license to use the acquired intellectual property for any purpose outside of AIS data
(systematic data distilled from broadcasts of AIS messages) applications. The intellectual property we have licensed
includes, without limitation, patents, copyright, know-how, trade-secrets, and confidential and proprietary
information relating to AIS. While we have an indemnity from COM DEV for any third party claims against us arising
from or relating to products or services provided by COM DEV or COM DEV’s licensees or sub-licensees, there can be
no assurance that such indemnity will be sufficient or adequate to cover any damages that we may incur as a result
of COM DEV’s misuse of our intellectual property.
Our intellectual property may be subject to impeachment, opposition or cancellation proceedings or other
challenges commenced by third parties. The validity of an issued patent or the patentability of a pending patent
application may be challenged on a number of grounds, and the outcome of such challenges is inherently
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unpredictable. If such a challenge is successful in whole or in part then the subject patent application may not be
granted or the subject patent may be found to be invalid, or certain patent claims may be cancelled, in which case
the patent or patent claims will be unenforceable. A third party may also oppose or challenge our use of certain
trademarks. If such a challenge is successful then we may have to re-brand some of our products or services.
While the majority of our patents, patent applications and copyright were recently issued, filed, or created,
these types of intellectual property have limited terms such that the legal protection afforded therefor will expire at
the end of the term.
Despite precautions, a third party may be able to independently develop or legally or illegally obtain, and
then subsequently use, our technology. There can be no assurance that any steps taken by us will prevent the use of
our technology by others, including in countries in which we have not obtained patents. If our intellectual property is
infringed by a third party or if our technology has been misappropriated, we may need to commence legal
proceedings against that party in one or more countries. The result of any such legal proceedings may be uncertain,
and such legal proceedings could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are dependent on third-party contractors for certain aspects of our business.
There are a limited number of manufacturers that are able to design and build satellites according to the
technical specifications and standards of quality we require. There are also a limited number of suppliers able to
launch such satellites. Adverse events with respect to any of our manufacturers or launch suppliers could result in the
delay of the design, construction or launch of our satellites. General economic conditions may also affect the ability
of our manufacturers and launch suppliers to provide services on commercially reasonable terms or to fulfill their
obligations in terms of manufacturing schedules, launch dates, pricing, or other items. Even where alternate suppliers
for such services are available, we may have difficulty identifying them in a timely manner, we may incur significant
additional expense in changing suppliers, and this could result in difficulties or delays in the design, construction or
launch of our satellites. Any delays in the design, construction or launch of our satellites could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We purchase equipment from third party suppliers and depend on those suppliers to deliver and support
these products to the contracted specifications in order for us to meet our service and contractual commitments to
our customers. We may experience difficulty if these suppliers do not meet their obligations to deliver and support this
equipment. We may also experience difficulty or failure when implementing, operating and maintaining this
equipment, or when providing services using this equipment. This difficulty or failure may lead to service interruptions
or degradations in the product offered to our customers, which could cause our revenues to decline materially and
could adversely affect our ability to market its services and generate future revenues and profit.
We rely heavily on certain relationship with third parties as part of our business.
We have established preferred relationships with COM DEV, Hisdesat and their respective affiliates. These
relationships provide for marketing, sales, and technical support that help us to expand our opportunities, and provide
us with systems and services to fulfill our procurement requirements. If we fail to maintain and enhance these
relationships, or to establish new relationships in the future, this could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and/or financial condition.
In addition, we communicate with our satellites through various ground stations which transmit and receive
information to and from the satellite. A majority of our ground stations are owned and maintained by third parties,
such as KSAT, and therefore if our relationship with these parties deteriorates then our operations could be adversely
affected.
We rely on third-party distributors to market and sell our products and services to end users. Our distributors
operate independently of us, and we have limited control over their operations, which exposes us to significant risks;
including selling our services to proscribed countries. Distributors may not commit the necessary resources to market
and sell our products and services and may also market and sell competitive products and services. In addition, our
distributors may not comply with the laws and regulatory requirements in their local jurisdictions, which could limit their
ability to market or sell our products and services. If current or future distributors do not perform adequately, or if we
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are unable to locate competent distributors in particular countries and secure their services on favorable terms, we
may be unable to increase or maintain our revenue in these markets or enter new markets, we may not realize our
expected growth, and our brand image and reputation could be materially and negatively affected.
Our share of the AIS data market and other areas of the maritime information market may be lost to competitors.
While the patented AIS data processing technology that we own which, along with the capital cost to
acquire and launch satellites, provides a barrier to entry for many potential competitors, there are relatively low
barriers to entry for certain experienced and well capitalized competitors. We may face increasing competition in
the AIS tracking market. Large companies with expertise in satellite technology and use and data aggregation may
have significantly more resources than we have and may be able to enter our market. We are constantly exposed
to the risk that our competitors may implement disruptive technology or new technology before we do, or may offer
lower prices, additional products or services or other incentives that we cannot and will not offer. We can give no
assurances that we will be able to compete successfully against existing or future competitors.
Both commercial and government organizations have indicated that they might build and launch satellites
capable of collecting AIS information from space. In the case of some competitors, the AIS signal collection is a
secondary use of the satellites and thus has a lower marginal cost than for us. Terrestrial collection of AIS signals is
relatively inexpensive and while the range of detection is limited, this capability may be sufficient for some potential
customers.
The markets in which we operate are characterized by changing technology and evolving industry standards.
Any failure or delays by us in meeting or complying with changing technology and an evolving industry could
have a material adverse effect on our business prospects, results of operations and financial condition. Our ability to
anticipate changes in technology, technical standards and the needs of the industries we serve or propose to serve
will be a significant factor in our ability to compete or expand into new markets. There can be no assurance that we
will be successful in identifying, developing and marketing products or systems that respond to rapid technological
change, evolving standards or individual customer standards or requirements.
We will be required to invest in technology to meet the changing needs of our customers. Technological
development is expensive and requires significant lead time. It is possible that we may not be successful in developing
new technology or that the technology we are successful in developing may not meet the needs of our customers
or potential new customers. Our competitors may also develop technology that better meets the needs of our
customers, which may cause those customers or potential new customers to migrate to our competitors. If we do not
continue to develop, manufacture and market innovative technologies or applications that meet customers’
requirements, sales may suffer which could have a material adverse effect on our business prospects, results of
operations and/or financial condition.
Our customers may change their product requirements and we may not be able to meet this change.
Our products have a variety of applications. Despite this variety, there can be no guarantee that our
customers will continue to be satisfied with the current applications of our products. We can give no assurances that
we will be able to meet changing customer requirements, or to meet them quickly enough. The failure to meet
changing customer requirements could result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business
prospects and financial condition.
We rely on a limited number of customers to provide a substantial portion of revenue, many of which are Governments
of sovereign nations.
For the three and nine months ended July 31, 2016, two customers and their affiliates represented 53% and
three customers represented 61% of our revenue. For the three and nine months ended July 31, 2015, two customers
represented 61% and one customer represented 50% of our revenue. The loss of, default by, or decrease in order
volume by one or more of these customers could significantly affect our business.
Although we monitor our larger customers’ financial performance and seek deposits, guarantees and other
methods of protection against default where possible, customers may in the future default on their obligations to us
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due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. Defaults by any of our larger customers or by
a group of our smaller customers who, collectively, represent a significant portion of our revenue could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations, business prospects and financial condition.
In addition, because service revenue depends either partially or entirely on the usage of our products and
services by our customers and end users, the decline or slowdown in the growth of usage patterns of these customers
which could occur at any time and with or without a reduction in the number of our billable subscribers could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We rely heavily on contracts with Government customers which customers are subject to political change.
Additionally, we operate in a market that is subject to significant Government regulation.
A significant amount of our sales are to government agencies. Changes in Government policies, priorities or
regulations, tax revenue or funding levels through agency or program budget reductions, the imposition of budgetary
constraints or the lack of Government appropriations or the delay and/or deferment in Governmental contract
approvals or in Government programs could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business
prospects and financial condition. A decline in Governmental support and funding for programs in which we or our
customers participate could result in contract terminations, delays in contract rewards, the failure to exercise contract
options, renewals of existing contracts at lower prices, the cancellation of planned procurements and fewer new
business opportunities, any of which could result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business
prospects and financial condition. Furthermore, contracts with any Government, including the Canadian or
United States Government, may be terminated or suspended by the Government at any time, with or without cause.
There can be no assurance that any contract with the Government of any country will not be terminated or
suspended in the future. Although we attempt to ensure that Government contracts have, as standard provisions,
termination for convenience language which reimburses the contractor for reasonable costs incurred, subcontractor
and employee termination and wind-down costs plus a reasonable amount of profit thereon, the payments are not
assured and may not be sufficient to fully compensate us for any early termination of a contract, which may impact
our results of our operations and financial condition.
The majority of the areas in which we operate are subject to significant regulation. These regulations are
subject to change. A failure by us to keep current and compliant with these changes could result in sanctions or
financial penalties that may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, or limit our ability to operate
in a specific market.
The operation of certain systems, such as satellites or other devices, which are or will be operated by us,
require us to obtain regulatory approvals, such as those relating to licences and communication frequencies. In
certain circumstances third parties may be required to obtain such approvals or licences. There can be no assurance
that the approvals or licences will be obtained by either us or third parties on a timely basis or retained for continuous
operations. A failure to obtain approvals or licences could affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Current and future global financial markets have been and may continue to be volatile and may negatively affect
us, our counterparties and our customers.
Current and future global financial markets have been and may continue to be subject to increased
volatility. Access to financing has been negatively impacted in Canada, the United States and elsewhere. As such,
we are subject to counter-party risk and liquidity risk. We are exposed to various counter-party risks including, but not
limited to: (i) risks relating to financial institutions that hold our cash; (ii) risks relating to companies or Governments
that have payables to us or to whom we have made prepaid expenditures; and (iii) risks relating to our insurance
providers.
The current state of the global financial markets may negatively impact our ability to obtain loans and other
credit facilities in the future and, if obtained, on terms favourable to us. If levels of volatility are increased or there is
market turmoil, our planned growth could be adversely impacted and the trading price of our securities could be
adversely affected.
Customers may reduce or postpone expenditures in view of the uncertainty of the global credit and financial
markets and the limitations on available credit. Additional impacts of prevailing global financial conditions may
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include the inability of key suppliers to remain solvent and/or to obtain sufficient financing for the development and
manufacture of the satellites, earth stations and other technological requirements.
We may have difficulty accessing additional capital on reasonable financial terms, or at all.
Implementation of our business strategy requires the outlay of additional capital. As we pursue our business
strategies and seek to respond to developments in our business and opportunities, either organic or via potential
strategic acquisitions, and trends in the industry, our actual capital expenditures may differ from those that we expect.
Moreover, implementation of our business strategies could result in potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities,
significant expenditures of cash, the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities or an increase in amortization
expenses. There can be no assurance that we will be able to satisfy our capital requirements in the future. In addition,
if one of our satellites failed unexpectedly, there is no assurance of insurance recovery or the timing thereof and we
may need to obtain additional financing to replace the satellite. The availability and cost to us of external financing
depends on a number of factors, including our credit rating (if any) and financial performance and general market
conditions. Declines in our expected future revenues under contracts with customers and challenging business
conditions faced by our customers are among the other factors that may adversely affect our credit. The overall
impact on our financial condition of any transaction that we pursue may be negative or may be negatively
perceived by the financial markets and ratings agencies and may result in adverse rating agency actions with
respect to our credit rating (if any). Deterioration in our financial performance could limit our ability to obtain
financing or could result in any such financing being available only at greater cost or on more restrictive terms than
might otherwise be available.
We may suffer as a result of software errors, bugs or other vulnerabilities.
Our products incorporate software and algorithms that are highly technical and complex. They have
contained, and may now or in the future contain, undetected errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities. Some errors in these
technologies may only be discovered after release and could result in damage to our reputation, loss of customers,
loss of users, loss of revenue, or liability for damages, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations, business prospects and financial condition.
We may be subject to an attack on, or failure of, our technical infrastructure.
Though it is difficult to determine what, if any, harm may directly result from any specific interruption or attack,
any failure to maintain performance, reliability, security, and availability of our products and technical infrastructure
to the satisfaction of our customers and users may harm our reputation and ability to retain existing customers and
attract new customers. We have security measures in place to protect our infrastructure from break-ins by hackers,
and are continually upgrading such security measures, but no system is entirely secure, and accordingly this risk must
be acknowledged. Computer viruses or break-ins by hackers could negatively affect us in several ways, including
theft, compromise and/or misuse of proprietary collected historical or future data, technical information or customer
information, interruptions in service to customers and business partners.
Our business is dependent on the Internet.
Our ability to create our products and deliver them to customers depends in part on the use of the Internet.
Usage of the Internet may be inhibited for a number of reasons. The Internet infrastructure may not be able to support
the demands placed on it by continued growth and may lose its viability due to delays in the development or
adoption of new equipment, standards and protocols to handle increased levels of Internet activity, security,
reliability, cost, ease- of-use, accessibility and quality of service. Federal, state, provincial, local or foreign
Governments may adopt laws or regulations limiting the use of the Internet. Any disruptions in our usage of the Internet
could result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business prospects and financial condition.
We are party to agreements that provide for indemnifications and guarantees.
In the normal course of business, we enter into agreements that provide for indemnification and guarantees
to counterparties in transactions involving sales of assets, sales of services, purchases and development of assets and
operating leases. The nature of almost all of these indemnifications prevents us from making a reasonable estimate
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of the maximum potential amount that we could be required to pay counterparties. If these payments were to
become significant, future liquidity, capital resources and our credit risk profile may be adversely affected.
In the future, we may pursue acquisitions, dispositions and strategic transactions, which may include joint ventures
and strategic relations, as well as business combinations or the acquisition or disposition of assets.
Acquisitions, dispositions and strategic transactions involve a number of risks, including: (i) potential disruption
of our ongoing business, (ii) distraction of management, (iii) we may become more financially leveraged, (iv) the
anticipated benefits and costs savings of those transactions may not be realized fully or at all or may take longer to
realize than expected, (v) increasing the scope and complexity of our operations, and (vi) loss or reduction of control
over certain of our assets.
The presence of one or more material liabilities of an acquired company that are unknown to us at the time
of acquisition could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business prospects and financial
condition. A strategic transaction may result in a significant change in the nature of our business, operations and
strategy. In addition, we may encounter unforeseen obstacles or costs in implementing a strategic transaction.
We may not be able to properly manage our growth.
Failure to manage our growth successfully may adversely impact our operating results. Our ability to manage
growth will require us to continue to build our operational, financial and management controls, human resource
policies, and reporting systems and procedures. Our ability to manage our growth will also depend in large part upon
a number of factors, including our ability to rapidly: (i) expand our internal and operational and financial controls
significantly so that we can maintain control over operations; (ii) attract and retain qualified technical personnel in
order to continue to develop reliable and flexible products that respond to evolving customer needs; (iii) build a sales
team to keep customers informed regarding the technical features issues and key selling points of our products, and
(iv) obtain adequate capital required to fund our growth plans. We must also successfully implement our sales and
marketing strategy, respond to competitive developments, and further commercialise our products.
Failure to effectively manage the expansion of our product portfolio in a cost-effective manner could result
in declines in product and service quality and customer satisfaction, disruption of our operations, or increased costs,
which would reduce our ability to expand our margins as we expect. We currently face a variety of challenges,
including maintaining the infrastructure and systems necessary for us to manage the growth of our business. As our
product portfolio continues to expand, the responsibilities of our management team and other company resources
also grow. Consequently, we may further strain our management and other company resources with the increased
complexities and administrative burdens associated with a larger, more complex product portfolio.
We cannot assure an investor that we have made or will make adequate allowances for the costs and risks
associated with the expansion of our business, that our systems and procedures or controls will be adequate to
support our operations, or that we will be able to successfully offer and expand our suite of products. We cannot
assure an investor that we will be able to manage our growth or shifts in our business revenues effectively. An inability
to achieve any of these objectives could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We will need to gain an increasing share of a growing market in order to successfully execute on our business plan.
We are not able to predict with full certainty the total size of the addressable market and what portion of
that market we will ultimately capture. Pricing levels, competitor behaviour and customer adoption rates will
ultimately determine the success of our business plan.
We rely on a number of key employees, including members of our management and certain other employees
possessing unique experience in scientific, technical and commercial aspects of the satellite and data aggregation
and analysis business.
If we are unable to retain our key employees, it could be difficult to replace them. In addition, our business,
with its constant technological developments, must continue to attract highly qualified and technically skilled
employees. The available talent pool of individuals with relevant experience in the satellite, Big Data and geospatial
industries is limited, and the process of identifying and recruiting personnel with the skills necessary to operate our
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system can be costly. New employees generally require substantial training, which requires significant resources and
management attention. Even if we invest significant resources to recruit, train and retain qualified personnel, we may
not be successful in our efforts. In the future, our inability to retain or replace these employees, or our inability to attract
new highly qualified employees, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business prospects
and financial condition.
We face certain risks due to our global operations.
We have global operations and as a result, changes in domestic and foreign governmental regulations and
licensing requirements, deterioration of relations between Canada and a particular foreign country, increases in
tariffs and taxes and other trade barriers, austerity programs or similar significant budget reduction programs, civil
unrest or wars or economic or political or social instability in the areas that we provide our services may result in us
being unable to perform our contracts or otherwise successfully operate. We may also encounter difficulties in
enforcing our contracts for payment for services in certain countries due to the legal systems in place in such
countries. Our international operations also expose us to exchange controls and foreign currency exchange risks.
These risks could impact our revenues. In addition, certain countries may impose withholding taxes on us or on our
customers. These taxes can make the services more expensive or impose an unanticipated tax burden on us.
We are exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than our functional currency,
the Canadian dollar.
The majority of our revenue is transacted in Canadian dollars; however, portions of the revenue are
denominated in Pounds sterling and Euros. Purchases, consisting primarily of the majority of salaries, certain operating
costs, and manufacturing overhead, are incurred primarily in Canadian dollars. Our foreign operations are
conducted through our Subsidiary. The assets and liabilities of the foreign operations are translated into Canadian
dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the dates of the consolidated statements of financial position. Foreign
currency risks arising from translation of assets and liabilities of foreign operations into our functional currency are
generally not hedged.
We are subject to interest rate risk, primarily with respect to new financings that we may undertake.
Our risk exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to new financing that we may undertake following
the repayment of our indebtedness owing to the Selling Shareholders as described under the section of this
prospectus titled “Use of Proceeds”. Our policy will be to review our borrowing requirements on a continual basis and
to enter into fixed or variable interest rate borrowing arrangements as required.
We are exposed to credit risk from the potential default by counterparties that carry our cash and cash equivalents.
We attempt to mitigate our credit risk by dealing only with large financial institutions with good credit ratings.
All of the financial institutions that we transact with meet these qualifications; however, there can be no guarantee
as to the solvency or reliability of such counterparties.
Credit risk also arises from the inability of customers to discharge their obligation to us. If one or more
customers were to delay, reduce or cancel Order Bookings, our overall Order Bookings may fluctuate and could
adversely affect our operations and financial conditions. In the normal course of business, we monitor the financial
condition of our customers and review the credit history of each new customer.
Liquidity risk is our ability to meet our financial obligations when they come due.
We monitor our risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of our financial assets (e.g., accounts receivable, other financial assets), liabilities (e.g., payables, loans), and
projected cash flows from operations. Our objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through borrowing facilities available through our bank and purchase contracts. Our policy is to ensure
adequate funding is available from operations, established lending facilities and other sources are required. An
inability to properly manage our liquidity risk could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
business prospects and financial condition.
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Our revenue is difficult to forecast and may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. In addition, our operating
results may not follow any past trends.
The factors affecting our revenue and results, some of which are outside of our control, include:
(i) competitive conditions in the industry, including strategic initiatives by us or our competitors, new products or
services, product or service announcements and changes in pricing policy by us or our competitors, (ii) our ability to
maintain existing relationships and to create new relationships with customers, (iii) the length and variability of the
sales cycles for our products, (iv) strategic decisions by us or our competitors or our prospective competitors, such as
acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or changes in our business strategy, (v) general
weakening of the economy, or demand for maritime data, resulting in a decrease in the overall demand for our
products and/or (vi) timing of product development and new product initiatives.
We will be subject to taxes in Canada and certain foreign jurisdictions.
Due to economic and political conditions, tax rates in various jurisdictions may be subject to significant
change. Our future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing
statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, or changes in tax laws or their
interpretation. We are also subject to the examination of our tax returns and other tax matters by applicable tax
authorities and Governmental bodies. We intend to regularly assess the likelihood of an adverse outcome resulting
from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for taxes. There can be no assurance as to the
outcome of these examinations. If our effective tax rates were to increase, or if the ultimate determination of taxes
owed is for an amount in excess of amounts previously accrued, this could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, business prospects and financial condition.
We will be required to make accounting estimates and judgments in the ordinary course of business.
Such accounting estimates and judgments will affect the reported amounts of our assets and liabilities at the
date of our financial statements and reports and the reported amounts of our operating results during the periods
presented. Additionally, we will be required to interpret the accounting rules in existence as of the date of the
financial statements and reports when the accounting rules are not specific to a particular event or transaction. If
the underlying estimates are ultimately proven to be incorrect, or if auditors or regulators subsequently interpret our
application of accounting rules differently, subsequent adjustments could have a material adverse effect on our
operating results for the period or periods in which the change is identified. Additionally, subsequent adjustments
could require us to restate our financial statements or reports. A restatement of our financial statements or reports
could result in a material change in the price of the Common Shares.
We are subject to litigation risk as part of our business.
Our business is subject to the risk of litigation by employees, customers, suppliers, competitors, shareholders,
Government agencies (including but not limited to antitrust regulators), or others through private actions, class
actions, administrative proceedings, regulatory actions or other litigation. The outcome of litigation, particularly class
action lawsuits, regulatory actions and intellectual property claims, is difficult to assess or quantify. Plaintiffs in these
types of lawsuits may seek recovery of very large or indeterminate amounts, and the magnitude of the potential loss
relating to these lawsuits may remain unknown for substantial periods of time. In addition, certain of these lawsuits, if
decided adversely to us or settled by us, may result in liability material to our financial statements as a whole or may
negatively affect our operating results if changes to our business operations are required. The cost to defend future
litigation may be significant. There also may be adverse publicity associated with litigation that could negatively
affect customer perception of our business, regardless of whether the allegations are valid or whether we are
ultimately found liable. As a result, litigation could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, business
prospects and financial condition.
There are myriad laws and regulations regarding personal privacy rights and inadvertent disclosures of this
information could subject us to legal or civil penalties.
We transmit, and in some cases store, end user data, including personal information. In jurisdictions around
the world, the transmission and storage of personal information is becoming increasingly subject to legislation and
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regulations intended to protect consumers’ privacy and security. The interpretation of privacy and data protection
laws and regulations regarding the collection, storage, transmission, use and disclosure of such information in some
jurisdictions is unclear and evolving. These laws may be interpreted, applied and enforced in conflicting ways from
country to country and in a manner that is not consistent with our current data protection practices. Complying with
these varying international requirements could cause us to incur additional costs and change our business practices.
Because our services are accessible in many foreign jurisdictions, some of these jurisdictions may claim that we are
required to comply with their laws, even where we have no local entity, employees or infrastructure. We could face
a variety of enforcement actions or government inquiries or be forced to incur significant expenses if we were
required to modify our products, our services or our existing security and privacy procedures in order to comply with
new or expanded regulations.
In addition, if end users allege that their personal information is not collected, stored, transmitted, used or
disclosed appropriately or in accordance with our privacy policies or applicable laws, we could have liability to them,
including claims and litigation resulting from such allegations. Any failure on our part to protect end users’ privacy
and data could result in a loss of user confidence, hurt our reputation and ultimately result in the loss of users.
As an operator of a global satellite system, we are regulated, to varying extents, by Government authorities in Canada
and other countries in which we operate and the ITU.
As an operator of a global satellite system, we are regulated by Government authorities in Canada, the
United States and other countries in which we operate as well as by the ITU. We have partners (eg: resellers and
agents) and goods and services suppliers in other jurisdictions which are regulated by those foreign authorities and
have sole responsibility for maintaining compliance with foreign law. We are subject to various laws and regulations
governing our business, employment standards, taxes and other matters. It is possible that future changes in
applicable federal, provincial or common laws or regulations or the ITU regulations or changes in their enforcement
or regulatory interpretation could result in changes in the legal requirements affecting us (including with retroactive
effect) or our partners and suppliers. Any changes in the laws to which we or our partners and suppliers are subject
could materially adversely affect our results of operations, business prospects and financial condition. It is impossible
to predict whether there will be any future changes in the regulatory regimes to which we will be subject or the effect
of any such change. See “Regulatory Overview.”
Many of our most important customers are Governments of sovereign nations or departments or agencies
thereof, some of whom use our products and services for purposes of national defense. Some of these customers
may require that we or our partners and suppliers not distribute our data, or portions thereof, that they consider to be
important to their national security interests. Any such requirements may materially adversely affect our results of
operations, business prospects and financial condition.
Satellites are highly regulated and policies could change which would affect the launch and operation of
the satellites in our First Generation Constellation and our Second Generation Constellation. The next three satellites
that contain our payload will likely be launched out of Russia and India and due to policy stances by Canada or
other countries, these launches could be delayed or even cancelled resulting in a delay in the planned capacity of
our system.
The IMO established AIS as a global mandate for open over the air transmission of messages between ships
to facilitate collision avoidance and for SOLAS. Our service takes advantage of this global mandate by detecting
the same signals from space. The IMO could change the mandate in such a way that detecting the signals from
space or extracting useful information from the signals is no longer possible. Such a change would render our service
inoperable.
Satellites, satellite payload systems, ground control stations, communications networks and related
components, software and technology that we use in our business are subject to the export control laws and
regulations of Canada, the United States and other governments. Under these regulations, we may be required to
obtain government authorizations to export or re-export these controlled items to our business partners and
customers. Similarly, our suppliers may be required to obtain government authorizations to provide certain items to us
that are required for the operation of our business. There is a risk that we could be subject to material fines, penalties
and other sanctions if we fail to comply with these export control regulations or the terms of the export authorizations
issued thereunder.
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We are certified under the Canadian Government Controlled Goods Program (“CGP”) in compliance with
the Canadian Defence Production Act (“CDPA”). Our employees are subject to security assessment prior to hire, and
must be certified and trained to adhere to CGP regulations when possessing, examining or transferring goods and
documentation designated as controlled goods under the CDPA. Failure to comply could be classified as a breach
in security and result in cancellation of our CGP Certification, the payment of fines and/or risk of imprisonment.
If we or our suppliers fail to obtain or maintain particular authorizations or any of the required licenses on
acceptable terms, or to have successful and timely launch of new satellites in our First Generation Constellation or
Second Generation Constellation, such failure could delay or prevent us from offering some or all of our services and
adversely affect our results of operations, business prospects and financial condition. In particular, we or our suppliers
may not be able to obtain all of the required regulatory authorizations for the construction, launch and operation of
any of our future satellites or export of controlled goods. Even if we are able to obtain the necessary authorizations,
licenses and orbital placement, the licenses we obtain may impose significant operational restrictions, or not protect
us from interference that could affect the use of our satellites. Countries or their regulatory authorities or the ITU may
adopt new laws, policies or regulations, or change their interpretation of existing laws, policies or regulations, that
could cause our existing authorizations and frequency allocations we rely on for use of the satellites to be changed
or cancelled, require us to incur additional costs, impose or change existing price ceilings, or otherwise adversely
affect our operations or revenues. As a result, any currently held regulatory authorizations and licenses are subject to
rescission and renewal and may not remain sufficient or additional authorizations may be necessary that we may not
be able to obtain on a timely basis or on terms that are not unduly burdensome. While management does not
anticipate any issues with respect to the timely renewal of our licenses, there is no guarantee that such licenses will
be renewed. Further, because the regulatory schemes vary by country, we may be subject to regulations in foreign
countries of which we are not presently aware that we are not in compliance with, and as a result could be subject
to sanctions by a foreign Government.
These same regulatory risks are applicable to the satellites that we do not own or operate, such as the Iridium
NEXT satellites, and that are or will be a part of the First Generation Constellation or Second Generation Constellation.
Our satellites may collide with space debris or another spacecraft, which could adversely affect the performance of
our constellations.
Although our satellites, including those we own or operate and those owned or operated by third parties,
have some ability to actively maneuver to avoid potential collisions with space debris or other spacecraft, this ability
is limited by, among other factors, uncertainties and inaccuracies in the projected orbit location of and predicted
conjunctions with debris objects. Additionally, some space debris is too small to be tracked and therefore its orbital
location is completely unknown; nevertheless, this debris is still large enough to potentially cause severe damage or
a failure of our satellites should a collision occur. If our constellations experience satellite collisions with space debris
or other spacecraft, our service could be impaired.
Provisions of Canadian law may delay, prevent or make undesirable an acquisition of all or a significant portion of
our shares or assets.
The Investment Canada Act (Canada) subjects an acquisition of control of us by a non-Canadian entity to
government review if the value of our assets as calculated pursuant to the legislation exceeds a threshold amount.
A reviewable acquisition may not proceed unless the relevant Minister is satisfied that the investment is likely to be of
net benefit to Canada. This could prevent or delay a change of control and may eliminate or limit strategic
opportunities for shareholders to sell their Common Shares.
We are subject to Canadian and UK sanctions laws when we directly provide our goods and services to customers.
We and our UK subsidiary provide goods and services to commercial and government parties around the
world. Canada and the UK maintain various laws and sanctions proscribing the transfer of goods and services to
certain governments and government agencies and agents and designated persons. Through internal due diligence
prior to directly providing goods and services to customers, we are able to limit our liability under Canadian and UK
sanctions law. However, there remains inherent risk that these customers or their board of directors, executives,
employees are subject to Canadian or UK sanctions, or that the customers transfer our goods and services to such
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places or persons. Compliance with these Canadian sanctions and other proscribed entity lists is a condition of the
RSSSA provisional approval. Although the risk is minimal and we are not aware of any violations to date, there is are
legal and business risk regarding the direct provision of goods and services to customers outside of Canada and
the UK.
We rely on resellers, agents and suppliers in other jurisdictions to obtain and abide by laws of foreign jurisdictions.
Our First and Second Generations rely on services being provided to us by non-Canadian third parties, such
as resellers or manufacturers as well as Harris, which are located in other jurisdictions such as the US and Norway. In
some cases, these third parties are in possession of goods (including hardware and software and the AIS products),
whether received from us, which would be considered controlled under Canadian and other laws and thus require
export permits and controlled goods permits or the equivalent in those jurisdictions. We rely on these third parties to
be knowledgeable of, make applications for, obtain and maintain the necessary authorizations of any applicable
jurisdiction to possess and distribute these goods to other third parties in various jurisdictions. We rely on these third
parties to be knowledgeable of, and abide by the laws of any applicable jurisdiction regarding sanctions on countries
or persons. Additionally, these third parties may be making authorized or unauthorized representations relating to us
to other third parties and we rely on our third party suppliers to ensure compliance with all applicable laws regarding
anti-bribery and corruption. Through our agreements with third parties and through internal due diligence prior to
dealing with a third party, we are able to limit our liability under foreign law for the responsibilities of these third parties.
However, there remains inherent risk that these laws and regulations of foreign jurisdictions could inhibit the ability of
third parties to supply us with goods to support our operations, which could negatively impact our business. In
addition, these third parties with whom we deal directly or indirectly may be non-compliant and that such
non-compliance poses serious legal or business risk to us.
We may not pay dividends.
We have not paid dividends to the holders of our Common Shares to date. Dividends may be paid if and
when operational and financial circumstances permit. Investors seeking cash dividends should not purchase the
Offered Shares.
Given our international business, there is a risk that our employees, consultants or agents could violate anti-corruption
laws
Anti-corruption laws in effect in many countries, including Canada and the United States, prohibit companies
and their intermediaries from making improper payments to public officials for the purpose of obtaining new business
or maintaining existing business relationships. Certain anti-corruption laws such as Canada’s Corruption of Foreign
Public Officials Act and the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”) also require the maintenance of proper
books and records, and the implementation of controls and procedures in order to ensure that a company’s
operations do not involve corrupt payments. Since we conduct operations throughout the world, and given that
some of our clients are government-owned entities and that our projects and contracts often require approvals from
public officials, there is a risk that our employees, consultants or agents may take actions that are in violation of our
Group’s policies and of anti-corruption laws, which could result in the imposition of material fines, penalties and other
sanctions against us.
Cybersecurity
We face a variety of risks from cyber attacks and intrusions. These attacks may take the form of malware,
computer viruses, cyber threats, cyber extortion, and other types of security and data breaches and may arise from
inside and outside of our organization. The attacks may cause significant disruption of our IT networks or related
systems, which are critical to the operation of our business and may be critical or essential to the operations of our
customers. The risk of our experiencing a cybersecurity incident has increased as the number, intensity, and
sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions have increased globally. Some of our systems manage and protect
confidential information, including personally identifiable information, protected health information, and information
relating to national security and other sensitive government functions. We face heightened risks of security breaches
of systems maintaining and protecting such information. Although we make significant efforts to maintain the security
and integrity of our IT networks and related systems, including by implementing various measures to manage the risks
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of security breaches or network disruptions, there can be no assurance that our security efforts and measures will be
able to stave off all cyber threats. We may be unable to anticipate evolving techniques or to implement adequate
security barriers or other preventative measures to protect against a constantly shifting cybersecurity threat
landscape; thus, it is virtually impossible for us to entirely mitigate this risk. A significant cybersecurity incident could
result in the following:
•

A disruption of the proper functioning of our IT networks and related systems;

•

A disruption of our business operations and/or the operations of our customers;

•

Unauthorized access to, and destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of, proprietary,
confidential, sensitive or otherwise valuable information of ours or our customers, including trade secrets,
which others could use to compete against us or for disruptive, destructive or otherwise harmful purposes
and outcomes;

•

A compromise of national security and other sensitive government functions;

•

An expenditure of significant resources in remedying the damages that result;

•

Claims against us for breach of contract, damages, credits, penalties or termination;

•

Inquiries, investigations, or litigation on brought by government regulatory agencies; and

•

Damage to our reputation with our customers (particularly government agencies) and the public
generally.

Any or all of the above could negatively impact our business, financial conditions, operations, and
cash flows.
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
The number of issued and outstanding Common Shares was 21,605,506 as of the date of this MD&A.
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